North Battleford Smoking Cessation La Ronge Saskatchewan Wart treat Examination **I***e* Regina Saskatoon ransmitted Infection teness of care Cannabis Act Prince Alb Sport injuriesHospitalist programNo-show policy Moose JawSexual Exploitation Transgender counsellingRural Chronic disease letic testino Pain Management

# 30<sup>th</sup> Annual Resident Scholarship Day Abstract Book

Department of Academic Family Medicine College of Medicine University of Saskatchewan medicine.usask.ca/family



**BE WHAT THE WORLD NEEDS** 

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Adjudicators
Acknowledgements 4
Remarks from Dr. Lawrence
Remarks from Dr. Geller
Remarks from Dr. Ramsden
Abstracts
Mental Health Literacy in Canadian, Immigrant and Refugee Young Adults: A Comparison 8
Sexually Transmitted Infections: What is the awareness among patients in Swift Current, Saskatchewan?
Stillbirth Analysis of Prince Albert, Saskatchewan: A Comparison of the National Average 13
Abortion training in residency: a comparison of two urban family medicine sites in Saskatchewan
Screening Practices Related to Sexually Transmitted Infections Undertaken by Family Physicians in Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan
Bringing It Up: Barriers to Consultation and Management of Erectile Dysfunction at West Winds Primary Care Center
Education and Attitudes Towards the Pharmaceutical Industry of Family Medicine Residents Saskatchewan
Assessment of knowledge, attitudes, and skills working with transgender clients of Saskatchewan family physicians, family medicine residents and nurse practitioners
Implications of The Cannabis Act: Are Canadian family physicians prepared?
Feasibility of a Nurse-led Smoking Cessation Intervention in the Emergency Department
Diet counselling and its feasibility in family practice: Is a targeted template a useful tool in a typical family practice setting?
Sterile vs. Non-Sterile Gloves in Primary Care Practice
An Evaluation of the Buprenorphine-Naloxone Treatment Protocol Initiated at the Battlefords Union Hospital Emergency Department
Attitudes towards a Hospitalist Program in Prince Albert
Methadone for chronic pain management: A cross-sectional analysis of patient experiences in Prince Albert
An examination of factors that enhanced or inhibited successful presentation to counselling services in patients of the North Battleford Primary Health Centre with depression and/or anxiety disorders

Examining the appropriateness and associated cost of routine preoperative examinations in a Saskatoon Primary Health Care Clinic
Does implementing an appointment no-show fee decrease the amount of no-shows within a one-year period?
Illnesses and injuries at the 2019 Western Canada Summer Games: a description of the polyclinic and regional hospital Emergency Department visits
Child sexual exploitation: A survey of knowledge and comfort level of primary care providers in Saskatchewan
An Examination of Advance Care Directives in the Emergency Department
Child Life Services: An Environmental Scan of Care in Pediatric Bleeding Disorder Programs
Cryotherapy vs. salicylic acid for treatment of non-genital warts at the Alliance Clinic in Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan
Examining patients' attitudes and perspectives towards medicinal and recreational cannabis use
Interpretation and management of genetic test results by Canadian family physicians: A multiple choice survey of performance
Care Provider Needs Assessment of Chronic Non-Cancer Pain Management74

### 30<sup>th</sup> ANNUAL RESIDENT SCHOLARSHIP DAY DEPARTMENT OF ACADEMIC FAMILY MEDICINE

Planned for Friday, May 29, 2020 but due to COVID-19 was reframed.

#### Adjudicators

#### Fred Burge, BA, MD, MSc, FCFP - Halifax, NS

Dr. Fred Burge is a Full Professor and Research Director, Department of Family Medicine at Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS. His research interests lie in health services research in primary care with a focus on end-of-life care.

#### Darren Nickel, MEd, PhD - Saskatoon, SK

Dr. Darren Nickel is the Clinical Research Associate in the Department of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation at the University of Saskatchewan. His research focuses on health and physical activity.

#### Tiffany Blair, MSc, PhD(C) - Saskatoon, SK

Tiffany Blair is the Manager for Kidney Health at St. Paul's Hospital in Saskatoon which is a part of the Saskatchewan Health Authority. Her research focuses on kidney health, chronic kidney disease, home-based therapies, peritoneal dialysis and culturally tailored programs.

#### Acknowledgements

The Research Division of the Department of Academic Family Medicine, University of Saskatchewan gratefully acknowledges the Saskatchewan College of Family Physicians and the Department of Academic Family Medicine, University of Saskatchewan for the Resident Scholarship Awards.

> Research Support – Rhonda Bryce, Adam Clay, Nicole Jacobson, Michelle McCarron, Tanya Verrall, Vivian R Ramsden



Academic Family Medicine Family Medicine Unit, Regina Centre Crossing 172 - 1621 Albert Street Regina SK S4P 2S5

May 29, 2020

Congratulations to all of you who have contributed to the creation of these new pieces of scholarship in family medicine. This is the 30th Anniversary of our Resident Research Program in the Department of Family Medicine. While it is disappointing to not be able to celebrate this work together, I hope that in reviewing these abstracts, you will learn new things and be inspired to ask more questions about how we practice our discipline in all of its facets.

We are living in unprecedented times. The COVID-19 Pandemic is not the first of its kind, but it is the first time we have had access to so much information from so many sources so quickly. This gives us incredible power to learn and adapt in ways that have not been present at any other point in history. At the same time, this highlights how critical our skills in evaluating information, our knowledge of and participation in the research process, and our ability to implement, evaluate and adapt new processes are in our efforts to provide the best possible care to our patients and communities.

To our graduating second year residents - I wish you all the best in your future careers.

Stay well

e-mail from Dr. Lawrence on May 26, 2020

Kathy Lawrence Provincial Head Family Medicine



Congratulations on arriving at this stage of your Family Medicine Training.

As a former participant in the Resident Research Day in Saskatchewan, I am well aware of the feelings and emotions associated with completing a resident project. It is highly unfortunate that due to the CoVID-19 pandemic we are unable to come together to celebrate your success. Please know that your contributions to Family Medicine Scholarship are greatly appreciated and valued.

The skills of research, scholarship and critical appraisal have never been more important than they are now. The rate of increase in medical information has never been more apparent than during this pandemic. It seems that information was changing almost hourly. Your investment in your project has exposed you to skills that will be critically useful as your career progresses.

It is my hope that as you read this collection of abstracts you are inspired to ask questions and find the answers. For most of us, Scholarship does not look like a long list of publications. However, for all of us, as conscientious providers of care, it looks like life long learning, inquiry, and critically appraising the information with which we are presented.

We should all pause and thank those people who have made this moment possible: the Research Division, faculty advisors, and award sponsors, are only a partial list of the many important contributors. Thank you to all who make this day happen.

I would like to take this opportunity to wish the graduating FMRs all the best in the future and their chosen careers.

Personal regards,

Brian Geller, BSc, MD, MBA, CCFP (EM), FCFP, FRRMS Program Director Department of Family Medicine University of Saskatchewan

> Department of Academic Family Medicine Regina Centre Crossing #172- 1621 Albert Street Regina SK S4P 2S5 Phone: 306.766.0444 Fax: 306.766.0471



Academic Family Medicine West Winds Primary Health Centre (Research Division) 3311 Fairlight Drive Saskatoon SK S7M 3Y5

May 29, 2020

Colleagues

On this occasion, the 30<sup>th</sup> Annual Resident Scholarship Day, I want to take this opportunity to recognize the Residents, Faculty Coach/Supervisors, Faculty, Staff and members of the research teams for:

- all the hard work that has gone into making this possible;
- your commitment; and,
- for the many contributions that you have brought to these learning endeavours.

Since its inception in 1990, we have gathered together once a year to: celebrate our successes; learn about the scholarly questions that have been systematically answered over the past two years; ask and answer questions that will enhance our knowledge and understanding; and, provide feedback (peer-review). The Annual Scholarship Day in the Department of Academic Family Medicine has evolved and grown over the years providing us with the opportunity to celebrate our academic achievements and to plan for the future.

Over the past 30 years, we have come a long way but we must continue to transform to meet the standards used by the College of Family Physicians of Canada to accredit Residency Training Programs.

Winston Churchill indicated that, "to improve is to change; to be perfect is to change often". Viktor E Frankl said that, "when we are no longer able to change a situation - we are challenged to change ourselves." Mahatma Gandhi stated, "you must be the change you wish to see in the world." Improving practice provides these opportunities each and every day.

I would also like to recognize the support that we receive from: the Department of Academic Family Medicine; the College of Medicine; and, the University of Saskatchewan.

Due to COVID-19 and the fact that we can not share a meal or celebrate your work in person, I want to take this opportunity to wish you much success and the very best as you move forward in your chosen vocation.

Yours sincerely,

rahar

Vivian R Ramsden, RN, BSN, MS, PhD, MCFP (Hon.) Professor & Director, Research Division Department of Academic Family Medicine

#### Mental Health Literacy in Canadian, Immigrant and Refugee Young Adults: A Comparison

Nan Aftab, FMR II; Razawa Maroof, MBBS, CCFP; Rejina Kamrul, MD, CCFP; Mamata Pandey, PhD; Michelle McCarron, PhD; Adam Clay, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

### Abstract

#### Background

According to Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 88,140 Refugees settled into Canada with 3375 of those settling into Saskatchewan between January 2015 and September 2017. Studies suggest multifactorial and multi-faceted challenges faced by both Refugees/Immigrants and Canadian health care providers including low utilization of mental health services, inappropriate use of healthcare resources (ex. emergency departments) and multiple barriers to seeking and receiving mental health resources. Therefore, the present study aims to explore further on one of these barriers – mental health literacy.

#### **Research Question(s)**

Is there a significant difference between Refugee/Immigrant young adults and Canadians young adults in their understanding/knowledge of the symptoms of depression and anxiety according the DSM-V criteria and about symptoms that may be psychosomatic in nature?

#### Methods/Methodology

This study, which took place over six months, included an anonymous and voluntary crosssectional survey with twenty different symptoms of depression and/or anxiety based on the DSM-V Criteria; participants were asked to categorize symptoms as (1) Depression (2) Anxiety (3) Both (4) Neither or (5) I don't know. Participants were patients aged 19-25 years attending a scheduled medical appointment at one of three primary care clinics in Regina, Saskatchewan. A Certificate of Approval was obtained from the Research Ethics Board of the former Regina Qu'Appelle Health Region.

#### **Results/Findings:**

We found that overall Canadians were able to more correctly identify anxiety and depression symptoms based on the DSM-V, as compared to Immigrant/Refugee young adults.

#### **Discussion:**

As evidenced by our data, it can be seen that Canadians had a higher ability to identify Depression and Anxiety according to the DSM-V criteria, as compared to Refugee/Immigrants. This lack of knowledge of psychiatric symptoms in Immigrant and Refugee populations, can lead to unnecessary investigations, multiple appointments and therefore an increased cost burden on the healthcare system. This reflects the need for better access to mental health resources in the primary care setting.

#### **Conclusions:**

It can be concluded, from the data analysis, that Canadians are more likely to correctly identify the signs/symptoms of Depression and Anxiety, as outlined by DSM-V, than Immigrant/Refugees, with statistically significant differences.

- World Health Organization [Internet]. Geneva (CE): World Health Organization; c2020. Refugee and migrant health; [cited 2020 May 11];[9 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/refugee-and-migrant-health#tab=tab\_1</u>.
- Government of Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; c2020. Immigration, Refugees, and Citizenship Canada; 2020 Mar 19 [cited 2020 May 11];[6 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship.html</u>.
- Baumgartner L, Kamrul R, Youngseo L, Eguzo K. Improving health literacy: participatory study with settled refugees and immigrants in Regina. Paper presented at: 27<sup>th</sup> Annual Resident Research Day; 2017 May 26; Saskatoon, SK.
- 4. Whitley R, Kirmayer LJ, Groleau D. Understanding immigrants' reluctance to use mental health services: a qualitative study from Montreal. Can J Psychiatry. 2006 Mar;51(4):205-9.
- 5. Kirmayer LJ, Morton W, Giovanni B, Guillaume G, Jean-Claude L, Allan Y. Use of health care services for psychological distress by immigrants in an urban multicultural milieu. Can J Psychiatry. 2007 May;52(5):295-304.
- Rometsch-Ogioun El Sount C, Denkinger JK, Windthorst P, Nikendei C, Kindermann D, Renner V, et al. Psychological burden in female, Iraqi refugees who suffered extreme violence by the "Islamic State": the perspective of care providers. Front Psychiatry [Internet]. 2018 Nov 8 [cited 2020 May 11];9:[10 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00562</u>.
- Rometsch-Ogioun El Sount C, Denkinger JK, Windthorst P, Nikendei C, Kindermann D, Renner V, et al. Chronic pain in refugees with posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD): a systematic review on patients' characteristics and specific interventions. J Psychosom Res [Internet]. 2018 Jul 30 [cited 2020 May 11];118:83-97. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.07.014</u>.
- 8. Saunders NR, Gill PJ, Holder L, Vigod S, Kurdyak P, Gandhi S, et al. Use of the emergency department as a first point of contact for mental health care by immigrant youth in Canada: a population-based study. CMAJ. 2018 Oct;190(40):E1183-91.
- Saunders NR, Lebenbaum M, Lu H, Stukel TA, Urquia ML, Guttmann A. Trends in mental health service in immigrant youth in Ontario, Canada, 1996-2012: a population-based longitudinal cohort study. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2018 Sep 17;8(9):[11 p.]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-022647.
- Woodgate RL, Busolo DS. Above chaos, quest, and restitution: narrative experiences of African immigrant youth's settlement in Canada. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2018 Mar 7 [cited 2020 May 11];18(1):[12 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12889-018-5239-6</u>.

- 11. Beiser M, Hou F. Predictors of positive mental health among refugees: results from Canada's General Social Survey. Transcult Psychiatry. 2017 Oct-Dec;54(5-6):675-95.
- 12. Minhas RS, Graham H, Jegathesan T, Huber J, Young E, Barozzino T. Supporting the developmental health of refugee children and youth. Paediatr Child Health. 2017 May;22(2):68-71.
- 13. Evans A, Caudarella A, Ratnapalan S, Chan K. The cost and impact of the Interim Federal Health Program cuts on child refugees in Canada. PLoS One [Internet]. 2014 May 8 [cited 2020 May 11];9(5):[4 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096902</u>.
- 14. Maximova K, Krahn H. Health status of refugees settled in Alberta: changes since arrival. Can J Public Health. 2010 Jul-Aug;101(4):322-6.
- 15. Rink N, Muttalib F, Morantz G, Chase L, Cleveland J, Rousseau C, et al. The gap between coverage and care-what can Canadian paediatricians do about access to health services for refugee claimant children? Paediatr Child Health. 2017 Nov;22(8):430-7.
- 16. Guruge S, Butt H. A scoping review of mental health issues and concerns among immigrant and refugee youth in Canada: looking back, moving forward. Can J Public Health. 2015 Feb;106(2):e72-8.
- 17. Jorm AF. Mental health literacy: public knowledge and beliefs about mental disorders. Br J Psychiatry. 2002 Nov;177:396-401.

### Sexually Transmitted Infections: What is the awareness among patients in Swift Current, Saskatchewan?

Kelsy Leavins, FMR II; Bilal Ahmed, FMR II; Tara Lee, BSc, MD, CCFP; Adam Clay, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### ABSTRACT

**Background:** Canada has been struggling with rising sexually transmitted infection (STI) rates since the early 1990s. Despite mandated educational curriculum in the province, the rates continue to rise. The cause of the rise is likely multifactorial; however, it is essential to understand patient's awareness to guide future public health interventions.

**Research Question(s):** What is the awareness of sexually transmitted infections among the population of people age 18-35 at a local family practice medical clinic in Swift Current, Saskatchewan?

**Methods/Methodology:** A survey on sexual health awareness in patients aged 18-35 was conducted at a family practice clinic. The data was analyzed using chi-squared, Fisher exact tests, and thematic analysis to determine trends in the respondent's answers. The project was reviewed and approved by the University of Saskatchewan's Behavioral Research Ethics Board.

**Results/Findings:** 98% of the patients reported a good understanding of STIs and 61% saying that they have received some STI education. Despite the majority of respondents reporting a good understanding of STIs, there was a significantly significant difference between the level of education on STI's and self-reporting that sexually transmitted infections is a public health concern for the province. The top three preferred resources to receive education included schools, from their doctor, and public health website. Gender and age did not appear to influence the preferred methods of education.

**Discussion:** The results provide insight to patient's understanding of STI's. It is evident that there is relationship between sexual health education and awareness that STI rates are a concern in the province. The thematic analysis provided valuable information on how patients prefer to receive sexual health education with clear emphasis in benefits to school based education programs and discussion with health care providers.

**Conclusions:** The sampled population had adequate understanding of STIs and almost entirely approved of dissemination of information from their physician or via the school curriculum.

**Recommendations:** This study highlights the role educators, physicians and public health can have on sexual health awareness. Specifically, physicians can improve patient understanding of STIs during regular encounters. Further research into barriers to accessing care and following sexual health recommendations would be beneficial.

- 1. Public Health Agency of Canada. Update on sexually-transmitted infections Canada, 2016 [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; 2019. 28 p. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/publications/diseases-conditions/updatesexually-transmitted-infections-canada-2016.html.
- Cypress Health Region [Internet]. Swift Current (SK): Saskatchewan Health Authority; c2018. Rates of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) increasing; 2017 Jun 22 [cited 2020 May 11];[about 2 screens]. Available from: <u>https://cypresshealth.ca/news/rates-of-sexually-transmitted-infections-stis-increasing/</u>.
- 3. Trecker MA, Dillon JAR, Lloyd K, Hennink M, Waldner CL. Demographic and behavioural characteristics predict bacterial STI reinfection and coinfection among a cross-sectional sample of laboratory-confirmed gonorrhea cases in a local health region from Saskatchewan, Canada. Can J Public Health. 2015 Feb;106(2):e17–21.
- 4. Ministry of Education. Saskatchewan curriculum: health education [Internet]. Regina (SK): Government of Saskatchewan; 2009. 44 p. Available from: <u>https://curriculum.nesd.ca/Curriculum%20Documents/health\_ed\_9\_2009\_0.pdf</u>.
- 5. White K, Kelly K, Oliver J, Brotman M. (Mis)informed Canadian youth: sexual health survey report. Ottawa (ON): United Nations Association in Canada; 2007. 39 p.
- Li C, Cheng Z, Wu T, Liang X, Gaoshan J, Li L, et al. The relationships of school- based sexuality education, sexual knowledge and sexual behaviors—a study of 18,000 Chinese college students. Reprod Health [Internet]. 2017 Aug 25 [cited 2020 May 11];14(1):[9 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-017-0368-4</u>.
- Saskatchewan Prevention Institute. Advisory Committee on Family Planning sexual health education survey: final report summary [Internet]. Saskatoon (SK): Saskatchewan Prevention Institute; 2008 Dec [cited 2020 May 11]. 57 p. Available from: <u>https://skprevention.ca/resource-catalogue/sexual-health/advisory-committee-on-familyplanning-sexual-health-education-survey/</u>.

#### Stillbirth Analysis of Prince Albert, Saskatchewan: A Comparison of the National Average

Andrew Arndt, FMR II; Eric Brenna, FMR II; Levi Furber, FMR II; Breanna Davis, MD, CCFP; Rhonda Bryce, MSc, MD; Vijayalakshmi Udayasankar, MBBS, CRCS(C)

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

## Abstract

**Background:** Stillbirth risk factors include smoking, advanced maternal age, primiparity, intrauterine growth restriction, fetal malformations, abruption, maternal infection, obesity, diabetes, substance use and hypertension. Characterizing local stillbirth rates, risk factors and local intervention effectiveness could improve outcomes, particularly among diabetic pregnancies.

**Research Question(s):** 1. What is the stillbirth rate in Prince Albert, Saskatchewan? 2. How does the stillbirth rate in Prince Albert compare to that of the national average? 3. What maternal and fetal risk factors for stillbirth are present in the Prince Albert population? 4. How did the introduction of the maternal diabetes clinic in Prince Albert affect stillbirth rates?

**Methods/Methodology:** All medically coded stillbirths occurring at the Victoria Hospital in Prince Albert, Saskatchewan between 2007-2011 and 2014-2019 were reviewed. Analysis utilized descriptive statistics and negative binomial regression. Approvals were obtained from the University of Saskatchewan's Biomedical Research Ethics Board and the Saskatchewan Health Authority.

**Results/Findings:** Prince Albert's stillbirth rate was 7.2/1000 births (95% CI 5.9/1000, 8.9/1000), similar to provincial and national rates. Known risk factors were frequently present in our sample, including obesity, substance use and limited prenatal care. Stillbirth rates were 3.6 times higher (95% CI 2.1, 6.2) in diabetic versus non-diabetic patients. The rate of stillbirth in diabetic patients was reduced by 2.1 fold after Maternal Diabetic Clinic initiation (95% CI 0.83, 5.5).

**Discussion:** The stillbirth rate in Prince Albert, Saskatchewan is similar to provincial and national rates. We demonstrate high levels of modifiable risk factors such as obesity, tobacco use, alcohol use and low prenatal attendance, targets for physician-patient engagement; this is currently undertaken by the Maternal Diabetic Clinic in caring for diabetic pregnancies. There is an interesting, but not statistically significant, reduction in stillbirth rate associated with the initiation of the Maternal Diabetic Clinic.

**Conclusions:** Local stillbirth rate is similar to provincial and national rates. Recognized risk factors provide targets to improve outcomes. The proportion of diabetic patients referred to and engaged in the Maternal Diabetic Clinic could be further optimized.

**Recommendations:** Continue engagement with patients regarding obesity, substance use and prenatal care. Refer diabetic patients to the Maternal Diabetic Clinic and encourage engagement.

- 1. Stockdale DR, Irvine J, Tan L. Childbirth complications and interventions among northern, First Nations and other Saskatchewan women, 1992/93. J SOGC. 1999 Jan;21(1):47-57.
- 2. Heaman M, O'Brien B. Prenatal care provider. In: Public Health Agency of Canada, editors. What mothers say: the Canadian maternity experiences survey. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; 2009. p. 37-41.
- Wou K, Ouellet MP, Chen MF, Brown RN. Comparison of the aetiology of stillbirth over five decades in a single centre: a retrospective study. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2014 Jun 5 [cited 2020 May 20];4(6):[6 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004635</u>.
- 4. González-Quintero VH, Istwan NB, Rhea DJ, Rodriguez LI, Cotter A, Carter J, et al. The impact of glycemic control on neonatal outcome in singleton pregnancies complicated by gestational diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2007 Mar;30(3):467-70.
- 5. Wood SL, Jick H, Sauve R. The risk of stillbirth in pregnancies before and after the onset of diabetes. Diabet Med. 2003 Sep;20(9):703-7.
- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; c2020. Live births and fetal deaths (stillbirths), by type of birth (single or multiple); 2020 May 5 [cited 2020 May 20];[2 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action</u>?pid=1310042801.

#### Abortion training in residency: a comparison of two urban family medicine sites in Saskatchewan

Candina Beaurivage, FMR II; Sally Mahood, MD, CCFP; Michelle McCarron, PhD

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### Abstract

**Background:** Abortion is common in Canada, but abortion training in residency is not. Though residents themselves welcome abortion training, many programs continue not to offer routine abortion training. The Regina site has a mandatory experience for first year residents in providing abortion care. Saskatoon does not have equivalent mandatory exposure.

**Research Question:** Does routine abortion training in residency influence family medicine residents' self-reported confidence and competence when it comes to not only abortion provision itself, but also to commonly encountered women's health issues such as options counseling, contraception counseling, and general knowledge about abortion?

**Methods:** First and second year family medicine residents in Regina and Saskatoon were surveyed regarding their skills, confidence, and knowledge surrounding abortion care and women's health. This project was reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Board of the former Regina Qu'Appelle Health Region.

**Results:** Second year residents in Regina generally outperformed their Saskatoon counterparts especially with procedural experience. Most of the differences between second year residents at either site were not statistically significant due to the small sample size.

**Discussion:** The results seem to indicate that the mandatory abortion training in Regina does impact resident procedural skills, knowledge, and attitudes. The study should be repeated in order to improve the power of the findings.

**Conclusions:** Family medicine residents view abortion as important and are open to abortion training and the residents who get this training gain skills, knowledge and attitudes that will help them help their patients who are in need of abortion care.

**Recommendations:** Mandatory abortion training should remain part of family medicine residency in Regina. Family medicine residency programs should make an effort to include abortion care in the curriculum. This survey should be repeated in the future in order to gather more data and potentially strengthen the conclusions found thus far. Elective abortion should be added to the CFPC's list of 99 priority topics for family medicine.

- 1. Norman WV. Induced abortion in Canada 1974-2005: trends over the first generation with legal access. Contraception 2012 Feb;85(2):185–91.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Institute for Health Information; c1996-2020. Number and percentage of induced abortions reported by Canadian hospitals and clinics in 2016-2017; 25 Jan 2018 [cited 2020 May 5];[1 screen]. Available from: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/induced-abortions-reported-in-canada-in-2016</u>.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Institute for Health Information; c1996-2020. Data release 2015-2016 historical utilization; [cited 2020 May 5];[1 screen]. Available from: <u>https://secure.cihi.ca/estore/productSeries.htm?</u> <u>pc=PCC476</u>.
- 4. College of Family Physicians of Canada. Priority topics and key features with corresponding skill dimensions and phases of the encounter [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): College of Family Physicians of Canada; 2010. 104 p. Available from: <u>https://www.cfpc.ca/uploadedFiles/Education/Priority%20Topics%20and%20Key%20Features.pdf</u>.
- 5. Liauw J, Dineley B, Gerster K, Hill N, Costescu D. Abortion training in Canadian obstetrics and gynecology residency programs. Contraception. 2016 Nov;94(5):478–82.
- Myran DT, Bardsley J, El Hindi T, Whitehead K. Abortion education in Canadian family medicine residency programs. BMC Med Educ [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2020 May 5];18(1):[8 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-018-1237-8</u>.
- 7. Herbitter C, Greenberg M, Fletcher J, Query C, Dalby J, Gold M. Family planning training in us family medicine residencies. Fam Med. 2011 Sep;43(8):574–81.
- 8. Committee on Health Care for Underserved Women. ACOG committee opinion no. 612: abortion training and education. Obstet Gynecol. 2014 Nov;124(5):1055–9.
- 9. Greenberg S, Nothnagle M. An "invaluable skill": reflections on abortion training and postresidency practice. Fam Med. 2018 Oct;50(9):691–3.
- Brahmi D, Dehlendorf C, Engel D, Grumbach K, Joffe C, Gold M. A descriptive analysis of abortion training in family medicine residency programs. Fam Med. 2007 Jun;39(6):399–403.
- 11. Summit AK, Gold M. The effects of abortion training on family medicine residents' clinical experience. Fam Med. 2017 Jan;49(1):22-7.
- 12. Block A, Dehlendorf C, Biggs MA, McNeil S, Goodman S. Postgraduate experiences with an advanced reproductive health and abortion training and leadership program. Fam Med. 2017 Oct;49(9):706-13.
- 13. Romero D, Maldonado L, Fuentes L, Prine L. Association of reproductive health training on intention to provide services after residency: the family physician resident survey. Fam Med. 2015 Jan;47(1):22–30.
- 14. Goodman S, Shih G, Hawkins M, Feierabend S, Lossy P, Waxman NJ, et al. A long-term evaluation of a required reproductive health training rotation with opt-out provisions for family medicine residents. Fam Med. 2013 Mar;45(3):180–6.
- 15. Steinauer JE, Hawkins M, Turk JK, Darney P, Preskill F, Landy U. Opting out of abortion training: benefits of partial participation in a dedicated family planning rotation for OB-GYN residents. Contraception. 2013 Jan;87(1):88–92.

#### Screening Practices Related to Sexually Transmitted Infections Undertaken by Family Physicians in Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan

Eric Bortolotti, FMR II; Caitlyn Howe, FMR II; Janessa King, FMR II; Robert Haver, MD, CCFP; Michelle McCarron, PhD; Adam Clay, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

### Abstract

**Background:** Saskatchewan has the highest rates of gonorrhea and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in the country. Saskatchewan is also experiencing an increase in the number of syphilis cases. Family physicians play a substantial role in primary prevention of sexually transmitted infections (STIs).

**Research Question:** Were patients aged 15 - 25 who visited Alliance Health Clinic in Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan during 2018 screened for STIs according to the guidelines set by the Public Health Agency of Canada?

**Methods/Methodology:** A retrospective chart review was conducted of all patients aged 15 - 25 who saw a family physician at Alliance Heath Clinic in Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan from January 1st, 2018 to December 31, 2018. Data extracted included gender, age, number of visits in 2018, STI testing results, public health reporting forms and prenatal records. Inter-group comparisons were conducted using Mann-Whitney, Chi-squared or Fisher Exact tests, as appropriate. The project received ethics approval from the Research Ethics Board of the former Regina Qu'Appelle Health Region

**Results/Findings:** 1725 patients were included. Of the 1725, 11.5 % were tested for chlamydia and gonorrhea, 5.3% were tested for syphilis and 5% for HIV. Of these, 25 tested positive for chlamydia, two for gonorrhea, one for syphilis and none for HIV. Females were screened over twice as frequently as males. Females presenting for prenatal care were three-times more likely to be screened, but not all pregnant women were screened. The median number of visits per patient was two, and women had more visits than men. No 15 year-olds were screened. Eighty-four percent of the positive results were reported to public health.

**Discussion:** The greatest challenge in STI screening is a lack of opportunity to offer screening. Females were over twice as likely to be screened for STIs over males. This is likely because females visited the doctor twice as often as males resulting in more opportunity to be offered screening.

**Conclusions:** The screening practices relating to STIs undertaken by family physicians at Alliance Health do not follow the PHAC Guidelines.

**Recommendations:** Increase physician education about the PHAC Guidelines and increase efforts to offer patients screening at every visit.

- 1. Choudhri Y, Miller J, Sandhu J, Leon A, Aho J. Chlamydia in Canada, 2010–2015. Can Commun Dis Rep. 2018 Feb;44(2):49-54.
- 2. Choudhri Y, Miller J, Sandhu J, Leon A, Aho J. Infectious and congenital syphilis in Canada, 2010–2015. Can Commun Dis Rep. 2018 Feb;44(2):43-8.
- 3. Choudhri Y, Miller J, Sandhu J, Leon A, Aho J. Gonorrhea in Canada, 2010–2015. Can Commun Dis Rep. 2018 Feb;44(2):37-42.
- 4. Lemstra M, Neudorf C, Opondo J. Epidemiological analysis of chlamydia trachomatis and neisseria gonorrhoeae in Saskatoon Health Region. Can J Public Health. 2007 Apr;98(2):134–7.
- 5. Becker ML, Kasper K, Pindera C, Cheang M, Rodger D, Sanche S, et al. Characterizing the HIV epidemic in the prairie provinces. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2012 Spring;23(1):19-22.
- 6. Ministry of Health. HIV prevention and control report 2017 [Internet]. Regina (SK): Government of Saskatchewan; 2017. 26 p. Available from: <u>http://publications.gov.sk.ca/</u> documents/13/108029-2017-Saskatchewan-HIV-Prevention- and-Control-Report.pdf.
- Saskatchewan Health Authority [Internet]. Saskatoon (SK): Saskatchewan Health Authority; c2020. Saskatchewan Health Authority warning about increase in syphilis cases; encouraging preventative practices and testing; 2018 Sep 25 [cited 2020 May 11];[2 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www.saskhealthauthority.ca/news/releases/Pages/</u>2018/Sep/increase-in-syphilis-cases.aspx.
- Public Health Agency of Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; c2020. Section 5-2: Canadian guidelines on sexually transmitted infections – management and treatment of specific infections – chlamydial infections; 2017 Nov 22 [cited 2020 May 11];[22 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/infectious-diseases/sexual-health-sexually-transmitted-infections/canadianguidelines/sexually-transmitted-infections/canadianguidelines-sexually-transmitted-infections/canadianinfections-30.html.
  </u>
- 9. Currie S, Mercer CH, Dunbar KJ, Saunders J, Woodhall SC. Do healthcare professionals and young adults know about the National Chlamydia Screening Programme? Findings from two cross-sectional surveys. Int J STD AIDS. 2019 Jan;30(1):72-8.
- Alexander SC, Fortenberry JD, Pollak KI, Bravender T, Davis JK, Østbye T, et al. Sexuality talk during adolescent health maintenance visits. JAMA Pediatr. 2014 Feb;168(2):163-9.
- Ministry of Health. Appendix A: Reporting and follow-up timeliness [Internet]. Regina (SK): Government of Saskatchewan; 2017. 4 p. Available from: <u>https://www.ehealth sask.ca/services/Manuals/Documents/AppendixA.pdf</u>.

#### Bringing It Up: Barriers to Consultation and Management of Erectile Dysfunction at West Winds Primary Care Center

Brandon Canaday, FMR II; Stephan Hounjet, FMR II; Tanner Lange, FMR II; Andries Muller, MBChB, CCFP, FCFP, PhD

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

## Abstract

**Background:** There have been multiple studies evaluating barriers to discussing erectile dysfunction (ED) as well as seeking and engaging in treatment; however, the generalizability is often a concern due to the array of cultural, demographic, patient, and health-care driven factors. The purpose of this study is to gather patients' barriers, attitudes, and behaviours regarding ED to inform recommendations and resources, better equipping both patients and practitioners to engage in the discussion and management of ED.

**Research Question(s):** 1. What are patients' attitudes towards speaking to their physician regarding ED? 2. What barriers keep patients from speaking to their physician regarding ED? 3. Does age, income, or education level affect the patient's decision to discuss ED with the physician?

**Methods/Methodology:** The research was formatted as a quantitative cross-sectional study using a paper-format questionnaire to gather data. Eligible subjects were adult (age >18) male patients of WWPCC that were present for any scheduled visit. Sixty-one questionnaires were completed and used for data analysis. Ethics approval was received from UofS Beh-REB.

**Results/Findings:** A participant's total IIEF-5 (International Index of Erectile Function) score had no bearing on their likelihood to speak to a physician regarding ED, however there were three factors that had a statistically significant positive impact: decreased confidence in achieving and maintaining an erection, severity of dysfunction, and uncertainty in ability to complete sexual activity.

**Discussion:** Comfort in discussing ED with family physicians is not equally distributed across the population. Our results helped to identify both barriers and catalysts to discussion of ED. This aids our understanding of the factors our patient population may be facing and lead-points to future research looking to delineate what tools could be used to overcome such barriers.

**Conclusions:** Men continue to be hesitant to discuss ED with their physician due to embarrassment, and many simply forget to bring up the subject. Further research needs to be done to look into effective ways to normalize ED. Consultation and treatment of ED improves quality of life, sexual function and relationship measures in men, and primary care providers need to find better ways to approach this largely evaded problem.

- 1. Perelman M, Shabsigh R, Seftel A, Althof S, Lockhart D. Attitudes of men with erectile dysfunction: a cross-national survey. J Sex Med. 2005 May 1;2(3):397-406.
- 2. Shabsigh R, Stone B. Understanding the needs and objectives of erectile dysfunction patients. World J Urol. 2006 Dec 1;24(6):618-22.
- 3. Moreira ED Jr, Brock G, Glasser DB, Nicolosi A, Laumann EO, Paik A, et al. Helpseeking behaviour for sexual problems: the global study of sexual attitudes and behaviors. Int J Clin Pract. 2005 Jan;59(1):6-16.
- 4. Rosen RC, Fisher WA, Eardley I, Niederberger C, Nadel A, Sand M. The multinational Men's Attitudes to Life Events and Sexuality (MALES) study: I. prevalence of erectile dysfunction and related health concerns in the general population. Curr Med Res Opin. 2004 May;20(5):607-17.
- 5. Jiang H, Bai Q, Hong K, Xu QQ, Zhu JC. [Study on the knowledge of and attitude to sexual dysfunction in aged men]. Zhonghua Nan Ke Xue. 2005 Oct;11(10):752-4. Chinese.
- 6. Shirai M, Takimoto Y, Ishii N, Iwamoto T. [Influence of erectile dysfunction on daily life and general attitudes towards treatments]. Nihon Hinyokika Gakkai Zasshi. 2001 Nov;92(7):666-73. Japanese.
- Costa P, Avances C, Wagner L. [Erectile dysfunction: knowledge, wishes and attitudes. Results of a French study of 5,099 men aged 17 to 70]. Prog Urol. 2003 Feb;13(1):85-91. French.
- 8. Kim SC. Sexual attitude and perception on erectile dysfunction treatment among patients with erectile dysfunction and patients' spouses. Korean J Androl. 2009 Apr;27(1):1-9.
- 9. Berner MM, Leiber C, Kriston L, Stodden V, Günzler C. Effects of written information material on help-seeking behavior in patients with erectile dysfunction: a longitudinal study. J Sex Med. 2008 Feb;5(2):436-47.
- Günzler C, Kriston L, Stodden V, Leiber C, Berner MM. Can written information material help to increase treatment motivation in patients with erectile dysfunction? A survey of 1188 men. Int J Impot Res. 2007 May-Jun;19(3):330-5.
- 11. Kitai E, Vinker S, Kijner F, Lustman A. Erectile dysfunction—the effect of sending a questionnaire to patients on consultations with their family doctor. Fam Pract. 2002 Jun 1;19(3):247-50.
- 12. Hackett G, Kirby M, Wylie K, Heald A, Ossei-Gerning N, Edwards D, et al. British Society for Sexual Medicine guidelines on the management of erectile dysfunction in men—2017. J Sex Med. 2018 Apr;15(4):430-57.
- 13. Nehra A, Kulaksizoglu H. Global perspectives and controversies in the epidemiology of male erectile dysfunction. Curr Opin Urol. 2002 Nov;12(6):493-6.
- 14. Shabsigh R, Sadovsky R, Rosen RC, Carson CC 3rd, Seftel AD, Noursalehi M. Impact of an educational initiative on applied knowledge and attitudes of physicians who treat sexual dysfunction. Int J Impot Res. 2009 Jan;21(1):74-81.
- 15. Berner MM, Plöger W, Burkart M. A typology of men's sexual attitudes, erectile dysfunction treatment expectations and barriers. Int J Impot Res. 2007 Nov;19(6):568-76.

- Gülpinar Ö, Haliloğlu AH, Abdulmajed MI, Bogğa MS, Yaman Ö. Help-seeking interval in erectile dysfunction: analysis of attitudes, beliefs, and factors affecting treatment-seeking interval in Turkish men with previously untreated erectile dysfunction. J Androl. 2012 Jul-Aug;33(4):624-8.
- 17. Fisher WA, Eardley I, McCabe M, Sand M. Erectile dysfunction (ED) is a shared sexual concern of couples II: association of female partner characteristics with male partner ED treatment seeking and phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitor utilization. J Sex Med. 2009 Nov;6(11):3111-24.
- 18. Zhang K, He ZJ, Xin ZC, Jin J, Guo YL. [Physicians' knowledge and attitude to erectile dysfunction]. Zhonghua Nan Ke Xue. 2002 Dec;8(3):181-5.
- 19. Sand MS, Fisher W, Rosen R, Heiman J, Eardley I. Erectile dysfunction and constructs of masculinity and quality of life in the multinational Men's Attitudes to Life Events and Sexuality (MALES) study. J Sex Med. 2008 Mar;5(3):583-94.
- 20. Nobre P, Gouveia JP. Erectile dysfunction: an empirical approach based on Beck's cognitive theory. Sex Relation Ther. 2000 Nov;15(4):351-66.
- 21. Braun M, Wassmer G, Klotz T, Reifenrath B, Mathers M, Engelmann U. Epidemiology of erectile dysfunction: results of the 'Cologne Male Survey'. Int J Impot Res. 2000 Dec;12(6):305-11.
- 22. Fisher WA, Rosen RC, Eardley I, Niederberger C, Nadel A, Kaufman J, et al. The multinational Men's Attitudes to Life Events and Sexuality (MALES) Study Phase II: understanding PDE5 inhibitor treatment seeking patterns, among men with erectile dysfunction. J Sex Med. 2004 Sep;1(2):150-60.
- Shabsigh R, Kaufman J, Magee M, Creanga D, Russell D, Budhwani M. Lack of awareness of erectile dysfunction in many men with risk factors for erectile dysfunction. BMC Urol [Internet]. 2010 Nov 5 [cited 2020 May 12];10(1):[7 p.]. Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2490-10-18">https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2490-10-18</a>.

#### **Education and Attitudes Towards the Pharmaceutical Industry of Family Medicine Residents Saskatchewan**

Andrew Chan Tai Kong, FMR II; Kathy Lawrence, BSc, MD, CCFP, FCFP; Adam Clay, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### ABSTRACT

**Background:** In recent decades interactions between physicians and the healthcarepharmaceutical industry (HPI) have been increasingly recognized as an ethical issue. Medical schools have responded to this threat by taking measures such as instituting policies to limit interactions between trainees and HPI, with evidence of some effectiveness.

**Research Question(s):** What is the current state of Saskatchewan family medicine residents' knowledge, attitudes, and behavioural expectations towards HPI? What medical ethics educational interventions do residents believe would be most beneficial?

**Methods/Methodology:** An anonymous, online cross-sectional survey was distributed to all 100 family medicine residents in Saskatchewan. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the results of each question. Two open-ended, short answer questions were included. As a secondary analysis, International Medical Graduates and Canadian Medical Graduates attitudes toward interaction with HPI were compared with Mann-Whitney U and Chi-square tests. The study was reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Board of the former Regina Qu-Appelle Health Region.

**Results:** Attitudes and belief towards HPI showed reticence towards large transactions, such as paid trips, but general acceptance towards smaller transactions, including free drug samples. The majority (62.5%) recognized that such interactions lead to increased patient costs. There was a high degree of recognition of disadvantages of HPI interactions, such as information bias (91%), sales motive (91%). Less than 10% of respondents considered emphasis on medical ethics education to be high or very high at any stage of training. Qualitative review of short answer responses showed desire for further guidance on interacting with the HPI.

**Discussion:** Responses from this study appear to be similar to previous studies, with a trend towards increased awareness of risks of interacting the HPI as increased reluctance towards engaging in such interactions. Incorporation of medical ethics and HPI interactions in medical curricula continues to be moderate at best, despite increased awareness of the issue.

**Conclusions:** Residents display greater awareness and wariness toward the HPI. However, it remains unclear how to best address medical ethics.

**Recommendations:** A larger scale survey of residents from various specialties and provinces and a greater number of participants should be conducted.

- Salmasi S, Ming LC, Khan TM. Interaction and medical inducement between pharmaceutical representatives and physicians: a meta-synthesis. J Pharm Policy Pract [Internet]. 2016 Dec 17 [cited 2020 May 11];9(1):[12 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s40545-016-0089-z</u>.
- Spurling GK, Mansfield PR, Montgomery BD, Lexchin J, Doust J, Othman N, et al. Information from pharmaceutical companies and the quality, quantity, and cost of physicians' prescribing: a systematic review. PLoS Med [Internet]. 2010 Oct 19 [cited 2020 May 11];7(10):[22 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed. 1000352</u>.
- Yeh JS, Austad KE, Franklin JM, Chimonas S, Campbell EG, Avorn J, et al. Association of medical students' reports of interactions with the pharmaceutical and medical device industries and medical school policies and characteristics: a cross-sectional study. PLoS Med [Internet]. 2014 Oct 14 [cited 2020 May 11];11(10):[9 p.]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001743.
- 4. Lehrmann JA, Hoop J, Hammond KG, Roberts LW. Medical students' affirmation of ethics education. Acad Psychiatry. 2009 Nov;33(6):470–7.
- 5. Carrese JA, Malek J, Watson K, Lehmann LS, Green MJ, McCullough LB, et al. The essential role of medical ethics education in achieving professionalism: the Romanell report. Acad Med. 2015 Jun;90(6):744–52.
- 6. Vinson DC, McCandless B, Hosokawa MC. Medical students' attitudes toward pharmaceutical marketing: possibilities for change. Fam Med. 1993 Jan;25(1):31–3.
- Epstein AJ, Busch SH, Busch AB, Asch DA, Barry CL. Does exposure to conflict of interest policies in psychiatry residency affect antidepressant prescribing? Med Care. 2013 Feb;51(2):199–203.
- 8. Sergeant MD, Hodgetts PG, Godwin M, Walker DM, McHenry P. Interactions with the pharmaceutical industry: a survey of family medicine residents in Ontario. CMAJ. 1996 Nov;155(9):1243–8.
- Reynolds E. Family physicians' interactions with pharmaceutical sales representatives: a focus group study in three countries [Internet]. Victoria (BC): University of Victoria: 2015. 79 p. Available from: <u>https://dspace.library.uvic.ca/bitstream/handle/1828/6161/</u> <u>Reynolds\_Ellen\_MPA\_2015.pdf;sequence=1</u>.
- Mintzes B, Lexchin J, Sutherland JM, Beaulieu M-D, Wilkes MS, Durrieu G, et al. Pharmaceutical sales representatives and patient safety: a comparative prospective study of information quality in Canada, France and the United States. J Gen Intern Med. 2013 Oct;28(10):1368–75.
- 11. Strang D, Gagnon M, Molloy W, Bedard M, Darzins P, Etchells E, et al. National survey on the attitudes of Canadian physicians towards drug-detailing by pharmaceutical representatives. Ann R Coll Physicians Surg Can. 1996 Dec;29(8):474–8.
- Fickweiler F, Fickweiler W, Urbach E. Interactions between physicians and the pharmaceutical industry generally and sales representatives specifically and their association with physicians' attitudes and prescribing habits: a systematic review. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2017 Sep 1 [cited 2020 May 11];7(9):[12 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016408</u>.

- Norris P, Herxheimer A, Lexchin J, Mansfield P. Drug promotion: what we know what we have yet to learn [Internet]. Geneva (CE): World Health Organization; 2005. 102 p. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/69177/WHO\_EDM\_PAR\_2004.3\_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>.
- 14. Wazana A. Physicians and the pharmaceutical industry. JAMA [Internet]. 2000 Jan;283(3):373-80.
- 15. Stark TJ, Brownell AK, Brager NP, Berg A, Balderston R, Lockyer JM. Exploring perceptions of early-career psychiatrists about their relationships with the pharmaceutical industry. Acad Psychiatry. 2016 Apr;40(2):249–54.
- Mahood S, Zagozeski C, Bradel T, Lawrence K. Pharmaceutical policies in Canadian family medicine training: survey of residency programs. Can Fam Physician. 1997 Nov;43(11):1947–51.
- 17. Holm S, Nielsen GH, Norup M, Vegner A, Guldmann F, Andreasen PH. Changes in moral reasoning and the teaching of medical ethics. Med Educ. 1995 Nov;29(6):420–3.
- Bickel J. Human values teaching programs in the clinical education of medical students. J Med Educ. 1987 May;62(5):369–78.
- 19. Tsai TC, Harasym PH. A medical ethical reasoning model and its contributions to medical education. Med Educ. 2010 Sep;44(9):864–73.
- 20. Maxwell B, Racine E. Should empathic development be a priority in biomedical ethics teaching? A critical perspective. Cambridge Q Healthc Ethics. 2010 Oct;19(04):433–45.
- 21. Lohfeld L, Goldie J, Schwartz L, Eva K, Cotton P, Morrison J, et al. Testing the validity of a scenario-based questionnaire to assess the ethical sensitivity of undergraduate medical students. Med Teach. 2012 Jul;34(8):635–42.
- 22. Mattick K, Bligh J. Teaching and assessing medical ethics: where are we now? J Med Ethics. 2006 Mar;32(3):181–5.
- 23. Preston-Shoot M, McKimm J. Prepared for practice? Law teaching and assessment in UK medical schools. J Med Ethics. 2010 Nov;36(11):694–9.
- 24. Evans DV, Waters RC, Olsen C, Stephens MB, Brown SR. Residency curricula on physician-pharmaceutical industry interaction: a CERA study. Fam Med. 2016 Jan;48(1):44–8.
- 25. Kong WM, Knight S. Bridging the education-action gap: a near-peer case-based undergraduate ethics teaching programme. J Med Ethics. 2017 Oct;43(10):692–6.
- Kennedy TJT, Regehr G, Baker GR, Lingard L. Preserving professional credibility: grounded theory study of medical trainees' requests for clinical support. BMJ [Internet].
   2009 Feb 9 [cited 2020 May 11];338:[7 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.b128</u>.
- 27. McDougall R. Combating junior doctors' "4AM logic": a challenge for medical ethics education. J Med Ethics. 2009 Mar;35(3):203–6.
- 28. Caldicott CV, Faber-Langendoen K. Deception, discrimination, and fear of reprisal: lessons in ethics from third-year medical students. Acad Med. 2005 Sep;80(9):866–73.
- 29. Knabe BJ, Stearns JA, Glasser M. Medical students' understanding of ethical issues in the ambulatory setting. Fam Med. 1994 Jul-Aug;26(7):442–6.

30. College of Family Physicians of Canada. CFPC ePanel #1 member statistics [Internet]. Mississauga (ON): College of Family Physicians of Canada; 2015. 3 p. Available from: <u>https://www.cfpc.ca/uploadedFiles/Health\_Policy/\_PDFs/Epanel\_pharma\_survey\_Report\_E\_NG.pdf</u>.

#### Assessment of knowledge, attitudes, and skills working with transgender clients of Saskatchewan family physicians, family medicine residents and nurse practitioners

Lisette Christopherson, FMR II; Krishia McLaren, FMR II; Lori Schramm, MD, CCFP; Carla Holinaty, MD, CCFP; Ginger Ruddy, MD, CCFP; Emily Boughner, MSc; Adam Clay, MSc; Michelle McCarron, PhD; Megan Clark, MD, CCFP

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan & Saskatchewan Health Authority

#### Abstract

**Background:** People who are trans and gender diverse (TGD) often report suboptimal quality of care when interacting with healthcare providers. A growing body of literature is emerging that highlights health care providers' lack of knowledge and comfort with providing culturally safe care to individuals who are TGD.

**Research Question:** Do family physicians (FPs), nurse practitioners (NPs) and family medicine residents (FMRs) in Saskatchewan lack knowledge about providing medical care, specifically transition-related, to patients who are TGD? Is there a subset of these who would be interested in further training to provide optimal care to these patients?

**Methods/Methodology:** A survey was designed to assess the knowledge, attitudes, and skills of FPs, FMRs, and NPs in Saskatchewan with regards to working with TGD patients. The survey was reviewed and approved by the Saskatchewan Trans Health Coalition, which consists of people who are TGD, service organization representatives, and healthcare providers. Participants across Saskatchewan were recruited via email through their respective professional organizations and the University of Saskatchewan family medicine residency program. Survey data was collected online using REDCap. Analyses included descriptive statistics (aggregate and by professional group) and comparisons between groups using Analyses of Variance (ANOVAs). Ethical approval was obtained from the Saskatchewan Health Authority Research Ethics Board (REB 19-90).

#### **Results/Findings:**

Of the 188 respondents, only 30.3% (n=57) reported comfort providing transition-related medical care (such as hormone therapy and trans-related surgical referrals) to patients who are TGD. The majority (95.8%, n=180) of participants indicated they would be comfortable providing non-transition-related medical care to patients who are TGD. Interest in further training in providing transition-related medical care (75.6%, n=142) and cultural safety (67.1%, n=126) was high. No statistically significant differences between provider groups were observed.

**Conclusions:** Almost all participants felt comfort providing non-transition related care to patients who are TGD, but only a small portion reported comfort in providing transition-related care. Interest in further training on both transition-related care and cultural safety was high.

**Recommendations:** Training initiatives, both on cultural safety and transition-related therapies, for physicians, residents, and nurse practitioners will be undertaken, incorporating the results of this survey.

- 1. Alpert AB, CichoskiKelly EM, Fox AD. What lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and intersex patients say doctors should know and do: a qualitative study. J Homosex. 2017 Jun;64(10):1368-89.
- 2. Braun HM, Garcia-Grossman IR, Quiñones-Rivera A, Deutsch MB. Outcome and impact evaluation of a transgender health course for health profession students. LGBT Health. 2017 Feb;4(1):55-61.
- 3. Chisolm-Straker M, Willging C, Daul AD, McNamara S, Cham Sante S, Shattuck DG 2nd, et al. Transgender and gender-nonconforming patients in the emergency department: what physicians know, think, and do. Ann Emerg Med. 2018 Feb;71(2):183-8.
- 4. Dorsen C. An integrative review of nurse attitudes towards lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender patients. Can J Nurs Res. 2012 Sep;44(3):18-43.
- 5. Felsenstein DR. Enhancing lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender cultural competence in a midwestern primary care clinic setting. J Nurses Prof Dev. 2018 May-Jun;34(3):142-50.
- Fung R, Gallibois C, Coutin A, Wright S. Learning by chance: Investigating gaps in transgender care education amongst family medicine, endocrinology, psychiatry and urology residents. Can Med Educ J [Internet]. 2020 Mar 12 [cited 2020 May 7];[10 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.36834/cmej.53009/</u> Epub ahead of print.
- 7. Gurney KW. Transsexualism attitudes in general practice. Aust Fam Physician. 2010 Apr;39(4):183-3.
- 8. Johnston CD, Shearer LS. Internal medicine resident attitudes, prior education, comfort, and knowledge regarding delivering comprehensive primary care to transgender patients. Transgend Health. 2017 Jul;2(1):91-5.
- 9. Leach C, Layson-Wolf C. Survey of community pharmacy residents' perceptions of transgender health management. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003). 2016 Jul-Aug;56(4):441-5
- 10. Lim FA, Hsu R. Nursing students' attitudes toward lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender persons. Nurs Educ Perspect. 2016 May-Jun;37(3):144-52.
- Maxwell E, Salch S, Boliko M, Anakwe-Charles G. Discrepancies in lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender patient care and how pharmacists can support an evolved practice. Am J Pharm Educ [Internet]. 2017 Sep 1 [cited 2020 May 7];81(7):[4 p.]. Available from: <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.5688/ajpe8176181.
- 12. McPhail D, Rountree-James M, Whetter I. Addressing gaps in physician knowledge regarding transgender health and healthcare through medical education. Can Med Educ J. 2016 Oct;7(2):e70-8.
- 13. Nicol P, Chapman R, Watkins R, Young J, Shields L. Tertiary paediatric hospital health professionals' attitudes to lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender parents seeking health care for their children. J Clin Nurs. 2013 Dec;22(23-24):3396-405.
- 14. Paradiso C, Lally RM. Nurse practitioner knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs when caring for transgender people. Transgend Health. 2018 Apr;3(1):47-56.

- Rondahl G. Students' inadequate knowledge about lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons. Int J Nurs Educ Scholarsh [Internet]. 2009 Apr 1 [cited 2020 May 7];6(1):[15 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.2202/1548-923X.1718</u>.
- 16. Ruud M. Cultural humility in the care of individuals who are lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or queer. Nurs Womens Health. 2018 Jun;22(3):255-63.
- 17. Safer JD, Coleman E, Feldman J, Garofalo R, Hembree W, Radix A, et al. Barriers to healthcare for transgender individuals. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2016 Apr;23(2):168-71.
- 18. Safer JD, Pearce EN. A simple curriculum content change increased medical student comfort with transgender medicine. Endocr Pract. 2013Jul-Aug;19(4):633-7.
- 19. Safer JD. The large gaps in transgender medical knowledge among providers must be measured and addressed. Endocr Pract. 2016 Jul;22(7):902-3.
- Snelgrove JW, Jasudavisius AM, Rowe BW, Head EM, Bauer GR. "Completely out-at-sea" with "two-gender medicine": a qualitative analysis of physician-side barriers to providing healthcare for transgender patients. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2012 May 4 [cited 2020 May 7];12(110):[13 p.]. Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-12-110">https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-12-110</a>.
- 21. Strong KL, Folse VN. Assessing undergraduate nursing students' knowledge, attitudes, and cultural competence in caring for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender patients. J Nurs Educ. 2014 Jan;54(1):45-9.
- 22. Thomas DD, Safer JD. A simple intervention raised resident-physician willingness to assist transgender patients seeking hormone therapy. Endocr Pract. 2015 Oct;21(10):1134-42.
- 23. Unger C.A Care of the transgender patient: a survey of gynecologists' current knowledge and practice. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2015 Feb;24(2):114-8.
- 24. Vance SR Jr, Halpern-Felsher BR, Rosenthal SM. Health care providers' comfort with and barriers to care of transgender youth. J Adolesc Health. 2015 Feb;56(2):251-3.
- 25. Wichinski KA. Providing culturally proficient care for transgender patients. Nursing. 2015 Feb;45(2):58-63.

#### Implications of The Cannabis Act: Are Canadian family physicians prepared?

Julia Di Giovanni, FMR II; Ciara Mawson, FMR II; Hebbah Sherghin, FMR II; Rejina Kamrul, MBBS, CCFP; Adam Clay, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### Abstract

**Background:** The Cannabis Act took effect on October 17, 2018. There is minimal research assessing family physicians' abilities to address cannabis use with patients. Up to 75% of family physicians do not feel prepared to answer patients' questions. The full impact of cannabis legalization is currently unknown and it will be pertinent to evaluate the preparedness of family physicians in practice.

**Research Question:** Do Canadian family physicians feel competent counselling patients on legalized recreational cannabis consumption, toxicity, management, and legislation?

**Methods/Methodology:** Saskatchewan family physicians were invited to complete an online survey, distributed by the Saskatchewan Medical Association, in January-February 2020. The survey captured family physicians' knowledge of recreational cannabis counselling practices and continued training needs. The research team reviewed the survey for face validity. The study was reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Board of the former Regina Qu'Appelle Health Authority.

**Results/Findings:** A total of 87 surveys were completed (10% Response Rate). Regarding cannabis legislation, the majority (92.7%) of participants were aware of the implementation of the Cannabis Act. While 78% of physicians were aware of the Canadian cannabis consumption driving regulations, only 25% considered themselves very comfortable counselling patients regarding safe driving. Of all the participating physicians, less than half of them (46.3%) felt moderately to very comfortable identifying vulnerable populations. Fifty-seven point three percent of participants were uncomfortable counselling patients on recreational cannabis use based on current level of knowledge.

**Discussion:** Saskatchewan family physicians are uncomfortable counselling patients on recreational cannabis use. Most are not aware of assessment tools which may account for the lack of screening for cannabis use disorder and identification of vulnerable persons. Family physicians' knowledge on the topic is incomplete and they frequently lack confidence to safely counsel their patients.

**Conclusions:** Saskatchewan family physicians lack experience and knowledge to appropriately counsel patients on recreational cannabis use, demonstrating a need for increased research and training.

Recommendations: Evidence-informed educational programs and resources need to be

developed. These should be made available to Saskatchewan family physicians, residents, and medical students to address specific knowledge gaps, as well as to improve the level of comfort when counselling patients on recreational cannabis use.

- Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. The CanMEDS 2015 physician competency framework. Ottawa (ON): Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; 2015 [cited 2020 May 5]. 17 p. Available from: <u>http://canmeds.royalcollege.ca/uploads/en/framework/CanMEDS%202015%20Framework\_EN\_Reduced.pdf.</u>
- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Statistics Canada; c2020. Analysis of trends in the prevalence of cannabis use and related metrics in Canada; 2019 Jun 19 [cited 2020 May 5];[10 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2019006/article/00001-eng.htm</u>.
- 3. Kondrad E, Reid A. Colorado family physicians' attitudes toward medical marijuana. J Am Board Fam Med. 2013 Jan-Feb;26(1):52-60.
- Crowley D, Collins C, Delargy I, Laird E, Van Hout MC. Irish general practitioner attitudes toward decriminalisation and medical use of cannabis: results from a national survey. Harm Reduct J [Internet]. 2017 Jan 13 [cited 2020 May 5];14(1):[8 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-016-0129-7</u>.
- Norberg MM, Gates P, Dillon P, Kavanagh DJ, Manocha R, Copeland J. Screening and managing cannabis use: comparing GP's and nurses' knowledge, beliefs, and behavior. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy [Internet]. 2012 Jul 24 [cited 2020 May 5];7(1):[10 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1747-597X-7-31</u>.
- Vorilhon P, Picard V, Marty L, Vaillant RH, Llorca PM, Laporte C. Attitudes of family physicians towards adolescent cannabis users: a qualitative study in France. Fam Pract. 2014 Oct;31(5):585-91.
- Ziemianski D, Caple R, Tekanoff R, Lacasse A, Luconi F, Ware MA. Cannabis in medicine: a national educational needs assessment among Canadian physicians. BMC Med Educ [Internet]. 2015 Mar 19 [cited 2020 May 5];15(52):[7 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-015-0335-0</u>.
- Karanges EA, Suraev A, Elias N, Manocha R, McGregor IS. Knowledge and attitudes of Australian general practitioners towards medicinal cannabis: a cross-sectional survey. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2018 Jul 3 [cited 2020 May 5];8(7):[9 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-022101</u>.
- 9. Evanoff AB, Quan T, Dufault C, Awad M, Bierut LJ. Physicians-in-training are not prepared to prescribe medical marijuana. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2017 Nov;180:151-5.
- Brooks E, Gundersen DC, Flynn E, Brooks-Russell A, Bull S. The clinical implications of legalizing marijuana: are physician and non-physician providers prepared? Addict Behav. 2017 Sep;72:1-7.
- 11. Fincham JE. Response rates and responsiveness for surveys, standards, and the journal. Am J Pharm Educ. 2008 Apr;72(2):43-3.

- 12. Fischer B, Russell C, Sabioni P, Van Den Brink W, Le Foll B, Hall W, et al. Lower-risk cannabis use guidelines: an evidence-based update. Am J Public Health. 2017 Aug;107(8):e1-12.
- 13. Jirsch J, Gross DW, Jette N, Federico P, Dubeau F, Tellez-Zenteno JF, et al. Canadian epileptologists' counseling of drivers amidst guideline inconsistencies. Can J Neurol Sci. 2014 Jul;41(4):413-20.
- Adamson SJ, Kay-Lambkin FJ, Baker AL, Lewin TJ, Thornton L, Kelly BJ, et al. An improved brief measure of cannabis misuse: the Cannabis Use Disorders Identification Test-Revised (CUDIT-R). Drug Alcohol Depend. 2010 Jul;110(1-2):137-43.

#### Feasibility of a Nurse-led Smoking Cessation Intervention in the Emergency Department

AJ Donauer, FMR II; Emily Sullivan, MD, CCFP; Andrew Tolmie, BSc; Rebecca Erker, RN, MN; Thomas Graham, PhD; Taofiq Oyedokun, MD, CCFP(EM); James Stempien, BSc, MD, FCFP, CCFP(EM), CCPE

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### Abstract

**Background:** Cigarette smoking is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality. Multiple studies have established that cigarette smoking prevalence is higher in Emergency Department (ED) patients than their respective communities. Previously, we confirmed this to be true for Saskatoon ED patients and found that the majority of these patients were receptive to ED-specific cessation support.

**Research Question(s):** What are ED nurses' beliefs regarding smoking cessation in the ED? What are potential barriers to implementing a smoking cessation intervention in the ED?

**Methods/Methodology:** We administered a questionnaire to St. Paul's Hospital ED nurses in Saskatoon assessing attitudes toward three potential interventions: brief counselling, referral to community support programs, and distributing educational resources. The questionnaire included Likert scale numerical ratings and written responses for thematical analysis. Ethics approval was obtained from the University of Saskatchewan Behavioural REB.

**Results/Findings:** 83% of eligible nurses completed the survey (n=63), which showed that ED nurses rarely attempt to provide cessation support and would be minimally comfortable with personally providing cessation support. Barriers identified through thematical analysis included time constraints (25.4%), appropriateness of location (19.0%), and lack of cessation knowledge (14.3%). Overall, 93.3% of nurses indicated at some point throughout the survey that time and workloads were barriers to providing counseling.

**Discussion:** While the ED appears to be a place where patients feel that smoking cessation interventions could be useful, ED nurses are inundated with tasks and have little extra time for smoking cessation interventions. Referral to community support programs was deemed most feasible and likely to be beneficial by nurses, while counseling within the ED was believed to be least feasible and beneficial.

**Conclusions:** Although the ED is a critical location for providing cessation support, the proposed interventions were viewed as a low priority task outside the scope of the ED.

**Recommendations:** While introduction of a referral program has some merit, having professionals dedicated to ED cessation support would be most effective. Staff education

regarding the importance of smoking cessation in the ED, and finding simple ways to incorporate smoking cessation into routine nursing care, could be beneficial and should be further examined.

- World Health Organization. WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic, 2017: monitoring tobacco use and prevention policies [Internet]. Geneva (CE): World Health Organization; 2017. 135 p. Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/</u>255874/1/9789241512824-eng.pdf?ua=1&ua=1.
- 2. Statistics Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; c2020. Health at a glance: current smoking trends; 2015 Nov 27 [cited 2020 May 12];[6 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-624-x/2012001/article/11676-eng.htm</u>.
- Manuel DG, Perez R, Bennett C, Rosella L, Taljaard M, Roberts M, et al. Seven more years: the impact of smoking, alcohol, diet, physical activity and stress on health and life expectancy in Ontario [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences; 2012. 42 p. Available from: <u>https://www.ices.on.ca/flip-publication/sevenyears/files/assets/basic-html/index.html#1</u>.
- 4. Statistics Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; c2020. Current smoker, daily, by age group; [modified 2020 May 12; cited 2020 May 12];[2 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310009623</u>.
- 5. Bernstein SL, Boudreaux ED, Cydulka RK, Rhodes KV, Lettman NA, Almeida SL, et al. Tobacco control interventions in the emergency department: a joint statement of emergency medicine organizations. J Emerg Nurs. 2006 Oct;32(5):370–81.
- 6. Smith PM. Tobacco use among emergency department patients. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2011 Jan;8(1):253-63.
- Lowenstein SR, Koziol-McLain J, Thompson M, Bernstein E, Greenberg K, Gerson LW, et al. Behavioral risk factors in emergency department patients: a multisite study. Acad Emerg Med. 1998 Aug;5(8):781-7.
- 8. Richman PB, Dinowitz S, Nashed A, Eskin B, Cody R. Prevalence of smokers and nicotine-addicted patients in a suburban emergency department. Acad Emerg Med. 1999 Aug;6(8):807-10.
- 9. Tolmie A, Erker R, Oyedokun T, Sullivan E, Graham T, Stempien J. LO37: Prevalence of cigarette smoking amongst adult emergency department patients. Can J Emerg Med. 2019 May;21(Suppl 1):S20-1.
- 10. Prochazka A, Koziol-McLain J, Tomlinson D, Lowenstein SR. Smoking cessation counseling by emergency physicians: opinions, knowledge, and training needs. Acad Emerg Med. 1995 Mar;2(3):211-6.

### Diet counselling and its feasibility in family practice: Is a targeted template a useful tool in a typical family practice setting?

Katelyn Strangway, FMR II; Nicole Dubois, FMR II; Emily Sullivan, MD, CCFP; Rhonda Bryce, MD, MSc; Tanya Verrall, PhD

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

A DSTD A CT	
Abstract	

**Background:** The increasing prevalence of preventable chronic disease is a major challenge. Despite recommendations for nutritional counselling during patient encounters, rates are low. To improve counselling confidence and frequency, we developed a simple template from the 2019 Canada Food Guide.

**Research Question(s):** How do Saskatchewan family medicine residents report their confidence regarding nutrition knowledge, and what are their reported rates of nutritional counselling? Do they feel that the template provided would increase their counselling frequency?

**Methods/Methodology:** All Saskatchewan family medicine residents were sent an anonymous online survey, capturing demographic information, nutritional education/knowledge, and both counselling confidence and frequency. They also reviewed the template for practice feasibility. We used descriptive statistics to assess the responses, then cross-tabulations comparing respondent characteristics with counselling confidence and frequency. The University of Saskatchewan's Behavioural Research Ethics Board approved this cross-sectional study.

**Results/Findings:** Only 37% of participants (N=19) felt fairly confident regarding counselling, and 47% counsel often. Of those fairly confident, only 57% counsel often. Barriers included insufficient time (90%), insufficient knowledge (60%), and insufficient reliable data (30%). Of respondents feeling moderately knowledgeable about the 2019 Canada Food Guide, 80% also felt fairly confident counselling; only 21% feeling less knowledgeable shared this confidence. All participants viewed the template as appropriate, 84% felt it would increase their counselling, and 89% indicated they would integrate it into practice.

**Discussion:** Counselling rates were comparable to the literature. Our study implies that increased familiarity with recent evidence and more nutrition training increases counselling likelihood; however, despite this knowledge, other barriers remain, predominantly time. This strengthens our proposal for an easy-to-use, reliable tool. Most study participants agreed that they would be more likely to provide dietary counselling with access to a similar template, which could be incorporated into regular visits.

**Conclusions:** Many residents lack nutritional counselling confidence; they also counsel infrequently. Given positive participant responses, our template has potential to mitigate identified counselling barriers.

**Recommendations:** Future studies could utilize this template in patient visits and assess patient understanding of the template. This could then be extended to prospectively evaluate patients' behavioural changes after the template was used in an encounter.

- Public Health Agency of Canada. How healthy are Canadians? A trend analysis of the health of Canadians from a healthy living and chronic disease perspective [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Public Health Agency of Canada; 2016. 46 p. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/services/publications/healthyliving/how-healthy-canadians/pub1-eng.pdf</u>.
- 2. Nair D, Hart A. Family physicians' perspectives on their weight loss nutrition counseling in a high obesity prevalence area. J Am Board Fam Med. 2018 Aug;31(4):522–8.
- 3. Lorts C, Ohri-Vachaspati P. Eating behaviors among low-income obese adults in the United States: does health care provider's advice carry any weight. Prev Med. 2016 Jun;87:89–94.
- 4. Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Public Health Agency of Canada, c2020. Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care; 2019 [cited 2020 May 11];[3 screens]. Available from: <u>https://canadiantaskforce.ca/</u>.
- 5. Moyer VA; US Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for and management of obesity in adults: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med. 2012 Jun;157:373-8.
- 6. Kahan S, Manson JE. Nutrition counseling in clinical practice: how clinicians can do better. JAMA. 2017 Sep;318(12):1101–2.
- Mackey C, Plegue MA, Deames M, Kittle M, Sonneville KR, Chang T. Family physicians' knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors regarding the weight effects of added sugar. SAGE Open Med [Internet]. 2018 Sep 19 [cited 2020 May 11];6:[5 p.]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/2050312118801245.
- 8. Vetter ML, Herring SJ, Sood M, Shah NR, Kalet AL. What do resident physicians know about nutrition? An evaluation of attitudes, self-perceived proficiency and knowledge. J Am Coll Nutr. 2008 Apr;27(2):287–98.
- 9. Park ER, Wolfe TJ, Gokhale M, Winickoff JP, Rigotti NA. Perceived preparedness to provide preventive counseling: reports of graduating primary care residents at academic health centers. J Gen Intern Med. 2005 May;20(5):386–91.
- Smith S, Seeholzer EL, Gullett H, Jackson B, Antognoli E, Krejci SA, et al. Primary care residents' knowledge, attitudes, self-efficacy, and perceived professional norms regarding obesity, nutrition, and physical activity counseling. J Grad Med Educ. 2015 Sep;7(3):388– 94.
- 11. Baron JA, Gleason R, Crowe B, Mann JI. Preliminary trial of the effect of general practice based nutritional advice. Br J Gen Pract. 1990 Apr;40(333):137–41.
- 12. Ball L, Leveritt M, Cass S, Chaboyer W. Effect of nutrition care provided by primary health professionals on adults' dietary behaviours: a systematic review. Fam Pract. 2015 Dec;32(6):605–17.

- Haas WC, Moore JB, Kaplan M, Lazorick S. Outcomes from a medical weight loss program: primary care clinics versus weight loss clinics. Am J Med. 2012 Jun;125(6):603.e7–11.
- 14. Prochaska JO. Decision making in the transtheoretical model of behavior change. Med Decis Making. 2008 Nov;28(6):845–9.
- 15. Evers KE, Prochaska JO, Johnson JL, Mauriello LM, Padula JA, Prochaska JM. A randomized clinical trial of a population- and transtheoretical model-based stress-management intervention. Health Psychol. 2006;25(4):521–9.
- Rakowski W, Ehrich B, Goldstein MG, Rimer BK, Pearlman DN, Clark MA, et al. Increasing mammography among women Aged 40–74 by use of a stage-matched, tailored intervention. Prev Med. 1998 Sep-Oct;27(5 Pt 1):748–56.
- Johnson SS, Driskell MM, Johnson JL, Dyment SJ, Prochaska JO, Prochaska JM, et al. Transtheoretical model intervention for adherence to lipid-lowering drugs. Dis Manag. 2006 Apr;9(2):102–14.
- 18. Bardach SH, Schoenberg NE. The content of diet and physical activity consultations with older adults in primary care. Patient Educ Couns. 2014 Jun;95(3):319–24.
- 19. Dolor RJ, Østbye T, Lyna P, Coffman CJ, Alexander SC, Tulsky JA, et al. What are physicians' and patients' beliefs about diet, weight, exercise, and smoking cessation counseling? Prev Med. 2010 Nov;51(5):440–2.
- 20. Wermeling M, Thiele-Manjali U, Koschack J, Lucius-Hoene G, Himmel W. Type 2 diabetes patients' perspectives on lifestyle counselling and weight management in general practice: a qualitative study. BMC Fam Pract [Internet]. 2014 May 15 [cited 2020 May 11];15:[7 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-15-97</u>.

## Sterile vs. Non-Sterile Gloves in Primary Care Practice

Hillary Gable, FMR II; Andrea Vasquez, MSc, MD, CCFP; Michelle McCarron, PhD; Adam Clay, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### Abstract

**Background:** The effectiveness of using sterile gloves for in office procedures has recently come into question in a number of settings, including dentistry, dermatology and the emergency department. Several studies have shown no difference in infection rate between sterile and non-sterile glove use. However, there is minimal evidence regarding the use of sterile versus non-sterile gloves in a Family Medicine practice. If infection rates are similar regardless of glove type, significant cost savings could be implemented for Family Medicine practices, without compromising patient care.

**Research Question(s):** We aim to determine whether, in a primary care practice, the use of sterile versus non-sterile gloves results in any difference in infection rates after in-office minor procedures.

**Methods/Methodology:** The methods will include chart reviews both before and after the implementation of use of clean, non-sterile gloves for office procedures at the Family Medicine Unit (FMU) in Regina, Saskatchewan. We did a retrospective chart review on charts including any in-office procedure done on the FMU between July 1, 2015 and June 30, 2016 as our control group (sterile gloves) and after the implementation of non-sterile glove use for procedures for cases from July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018. This study was approved by the Research Ethics Board of the former Regina Qu'Appelle Health Region. Operational approval was granted by the Saskatchewan Health Authority.

**Results/Findings:** Of the 43 patients in the sterile glove cohort that had follow up at the FMU, 5 had signs of infection at the follow up (12%). Of the 31 patients in the non-sterile glove cohort that had follow up at the FMU, four had signs of infection at follow up (13%).

**Discussion:** Based on review of 138 charts between the periods of July 1, 2015-June 30, 2016 and July 1, 2017-June 30, 2018. There is no difference in infection rates between the two cohorts, however our sample size was too low to achieve statistical significance.

**Conclusions:** This study suggests that the use of non-sterile gloves for in-office procedures results in no increased risk of infection, and therefore is a safe and potentially cost-friendly option for patient care.

- Brewer JD, Gonzalez AB, Baum CL, Arpey CJ, Roenigk RK, Otley CC, et al. Comparison of sterile vs nonsterile gloves in cutaneous surgery and common outpatient dental procedures: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Dermatol. 2016 Sep;152(9):1008–14.
- 2. Perelman VS, Francis GJ, Rutledge T, Foote J, Martino F, Dranitsaris G. Sterile versus nonsterile gloves for repair of uncomplicated lacerations in the emergency department: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Emerg Med. 2004 Mar;43(3):362–70.
- 3. Owens PL, Barrett ML, Raetzman S, Maggard-Gibbons M, Steiner CA. Surgical site infections following ambulatory surgery procedures. JAMA. 2014 Feb;311(7):709–16.
- 4. Steen K. [Sterile or non-sterile gloves in minor surgical procedures in general practice]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2017 Jun;137(12-13):885-9. Norwegian.
- 5. Heal C, Sriharan S, Buttner PG, Kimber D. Comparing non-sterile to sterile gloves for minor surgery: a prospective randomised controlled non-inferiority trial. Med J Aust. 2015 Jan;202(1):27–31.
- 6. Giglio JA, Rowland RW, Laskin DM, Grenevicki L, Roland RW. The use of sterile versus nonsterile gloves during out-patient exodontia. Quintessence Int Berl Ger (1985). 1993 Aug;24(8):543–5.
- Chiu WK, Cheung LK, Chan HC, Chow LK. A comparison of post-operative complications following wisdom tooth surgery performed with sterile or clean gloves. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006 Feb;35(2):174–9.
- 8. Adeyemo WL, Ogunlewe MO, Ladeinde AL, Bamgbose BO. Are sterile gloves necessary in nonsurgical dental extractions? J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2005 Jul;63(7):936–40.
- 9. Alam M, Ibrahim O, Nodzenski M, Strasswimmer JM, Jiang SIB, Cohen JL, et al. Adverse events associated with Mohs micrographic surgery: multicenter prospective cohort study of 20,821 cases at 23 centers. JAMA Dermatol. 2013 Dec;149(12):1378–85.
- Martin JE, Speyer LA, Schmults CD. Heightened infection-control practices are associated with significantly lower infection rates in office-based Mohs surgery. Dermatol Surg. 2010 Oct;36(10):1529–36.
- 11. Lilly E, Schmults CD. A comparison of high- and low-cost infection-control practices in dermatologic surgery. Arch Dermatol. 2012 Jul;148(7):859–61.
- 12. Rogues AM, Lasheras A, Amici JM, Guillot P, Beylot C, Taïeb A, et al. Infection control practices and infectious complications in dermatological surgery. J Hosp Infect. 2007 Mar;65(3):258–63.
- 13. Rhinehart MBM, Murphy MME, Farley MF, Albertini JG. Sterile versus nonsterile gloves during Mohs micrographic surgery: infection rate is not affected. Dermatol Surg. 2006 Feb;32(2):170–6.
- 14. Mehta D, Chambers N, Adams B, Gloster H. Comparison of the prevalence of surgical site infection with use of sterile versus nonsterile gloves for resection and reconstruction during Mohs surgery. Dermatol Surg. 2014 Mar;40(3):234–9.
- 15. Xia Y, Cho S, Greenway HT, Zelac DE, Kelley B. Infection rates of wound repairs during Mohs micrographic surgery using sterile versus nonsterile gloves: a prospective randomized pilot study. Dermatol Surg. 2011 May;37(5):651–6.

- 16. Castelli G, Friedlander MP. PURL: Time to switch to nonsterile gloves for these procedures? J Fam Pract. 2018 Aug;67(8):507–8.
- 17. Rietz A, Barzin A, Jones K, Mounsey A. PURLs: Sterile or non-sterile gloves for minor skin excisions? J Fam Pract. 2015 Nov;64(11):723–7.

# An Evaluation of the Buprenorphine-Naloxone Treatment Protocol Initiated at the Battlefords Union Hospital Emergency Department

Daniel Garcia, FMR II; Keara Minish, FMR II; Brady Bouchard, BEng, MBBS, CCFP; Rhonda Bryce, MD, MSc; Vivian R Ramsden, RN, PhD, MCFP (Hon.)

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### Abstract

**Background:** Canada's opioid crisis is generating rising rates of opioid-related deaths and overdoses. Buprenorphine-naloxone opioid agonist therapy (OAT) is first-line treatment of opioid use disorder (OUD). Advantages include reduced risk of fatal overdose and respiratory depression. Buprenorphine-naloxone OAT initiated in the Emergency Department (ED) is associated with successful primacy care engagement due to safe, unobserved, take-home dosing. There is a paucity of evidence evaluating patient retention of buprenorphine-naloxone OAT initiated in a rural ED setting.

**Research Question(s):** To evaluate patient adherence with buprenorphine-naloxone OAT initiated at the Battlefords Union Hospital (BUH) ED for OUD.

**Methods/Methodology:** Upon approval from the University of Saskatchewan's Behavioural Research Ethics Board and the Saskatchewan Health Authority, a retrospective chart review for this cross-sectional study was performed on all patients initiating buprenorphine-naloxone at the BUH for OUD from January 1, 2019 to January 1, 2020. Variables: (1) months since treatment initiation until April 2020; (2) active prescription for buprenorphine-naloxone; (3) follow-up primary care attendance; (4) expected vs unexpected urine drug screen (UDS) consistent with patient history; and (5) demographics of age and gender. Fisher's exact and Mann-Whitney-U testing was used for comparisons by follow-up and active prescription status.

**Results/Findings:** Twelve participants were initially included; one participant was lost to follow-up. Analysis included 7 female and 4 male participants at the time of data collection (April 2020). Active buprenorphine-naloxone prescriptions were held by 54.5% (6/11); 90.9% (10/11) attended follow-up after ED initiation. Females had a retention rate of 42.9% (3/7) compared to men at 75% (3/4). Of the 54.5% of participants with an active prescription, 100% (6/6) attended follow-up primary care appointments; of those without an active buprenorphine-naloxone prescription, 80% (4/5) also attended (p=0.46). Of participants with an expected UDS, 75% (6/8) maintained an active prescription and 25% (2/8) did not. All participants with an active prescription (2/5) (p=0.06). None of the study participants were previously prescribed methadone.

**Conclusions:** Our study provides preliminary evidence supporting successful retention and adherence of buprenorphine-naloxone in primary care when initiated in a rural ED for OUD.

- 1. Government of Canada. Canada's opioid crisis [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; 2019. 1 p. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/documents/services/publications/healthy-living/canada-opioid-crisis.pdf</u>.
- Government of Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; c2020. Opioids and the opioid crisis; 2020 Mar 17 [cited 2020 May 12];[7 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/problematic-prescriptiondrug-use/opioids/get-the-facts.html</u>.
- 3. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technology in Health. Programs for the treatment of opioid addiction: an environmental scan [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technology in Health; 2019. 63 p. Available from: <u>https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/es/es0335-programs-for-treatment-opioid-addiction-in-Canada.pdf</u>.
- 4. Fischer B, Gooch J, Goldman B, Kurdyak P, Rehm J. Non-medical prescription opioid use, prescription opioid-related harms and public health in Canada: an update 5 years later. Can J Public Health. 2014 Apr;105(2):e146-9.
- 5. Socías ME, Ahamad K. An urgent call to increase access to evidence-based opioid agonist therapy for prescription opioid use disorders. CMAJ. 2016 Dec;188(17-18):1208–9.
- International Narcotics Control Board. Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 2019 [Internet]. Vienna (AU): World Health Organization; 2020. 146 p. Available from: <u>https://www.incb.org/documents/Publications/AnnualReports/AR2019/</u> <u>Annual Report Chapters/English ebook AR2019.pdf</u>.
- Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction; c2020. Opioids; [cited 2020 May 12];[7 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www.ccsa.ca/opioids</u>.
- 8. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5 ®). 5<sup>th</sup> ed. Arlington (VA): American Psychiatric Association; 2013. 991 p.
- 9. Government of Canada. Federal actions on opioids to date [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; 2020. 2 p. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/ hc-sc/documents/services/substance-use/problematic-prescription-drug-use/opioids</u> /responding-canada-opioid-crisis/federal-actions/federal-actions-overview.pdf.
- Bruneau J, Ahamad K, Goyer MÈ, Poulin G, Selby P, Fischer B, et al. Management of opioid use disorders: a national clinical practice guideline. CMAJ. 2018 Mar;190(9):E247-57.
- 11. Amass L. Thrice-weekly supervised dosing with the combination buprenorphine-naloxone tablet is preferred to daily supervised dosing by opioid-dependent humans. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2001 Jan;61(2):173–81.
- 12. Gunderson EW, Wang XQ, Fiellin DA, Bryan B, Levin FR. Unobserved versus observed office buprenorphine/naloxone induction: a pilot randomized clinical trial. Addict Behav. 2010 May;35(5):537–40.
- 13. Busch SH, Fiellin DA, Chawarski MC, Owens PH, Pantalon MV, Hawk K, et al. Costeffectiveness of emergency department-initiated treatment for opioid dependence. Addiction. 2017 Nov;112(11):2002–10.

- British Columbia Centre on Substance Use. A guideline for the clinical management of opioid use disorder [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): Government of British Columbia; 2017. 77 p. Available from: <u>https://www.bccsu.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/BC-OUD-Guidelines\_June2017.pdf</u>.
- D'Onofrio G, Chawarski MC, O'Connor PG, Pantalon MV, Busch SH, Owens PH, et al. Emergency department-initiated buprenorphine for opioid dependence with continuation in primary care: outcomes during and after intervention. J Gen Intern Med. 2017 Feb;32(6):660–6.
- 16. D'Onofrio G, O'Connor PG, Pantalon MV, Chawarski MC, Busch SH, Owens PH, et al. Emergency department–initiated buprenorphine/naloxone treatment for opioid dependence: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2015 Apr;313(16):1636-44.
- 17. Cunningham CO, Giovanniello A, Li X, Kunins HV, Roose RJ, Sohler NL. A comparison of buprenorphine induction strategies: patient-centered home-based inductions versus standard-of-care office-based inductions. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2011 Jun;40(4):349–56.
- 18. Lee JD, Grossman E, Dirocco D, Gourevitch MN. Home buprenorphine/naloxone induction in primary care. J Gen Intern Med. 2008 Dec;24(2):226–32.
- 19. Lee JD, Vocci F, Fiellin DA. Unobserved "home" induction onto buprenorphine. J Addict Med. 2014 Sept-Oct;8(5):299–308.
- 20. Gryczynski J, Jaffe JH, Schwartz RP, Dušek KA, Gugsa N, Monroe CL, et al. Patient perspectives on choosing buprenorphine over methadone in an urban, equal-access system. American J Addict. 2013 Oct;22(3):285–91.
- 21. Teruya C, Schwartz RP, Mitchell SG, Hasson AL, Thomas C, Buoncristiani SH, et al. Patient perspectives on buprenorphine/naloxone: a qualitative study of retention during the Starting Treatment with Agonist Replacement Therapies (START) study. J Psychoactive Drugs. 2014 Nov-Dec;46(5):412–26.
- 22. Stein MD, Cioe P, Friedmann PD. Brief report: buprenorphine retention in primary care. J Gen Intern Med. 2005 Nov;20(11):1038–41.
- 23. College of Physicians and Surgeons of Saskatchewan. Opiate agonist therapy program: annual report 2018 [Internet]. Regina (SK): College of Physicians and Surgeons of Saskatchewan; 2019. 16 p. Available from: <u>https://www.cps.sk.ca/iMIS/Documents/</u> <u>Programs%20and%20Services/Methadone/OATP%20-%20Annual%20report%202018%</u> <u>20-%20FINAL.pdf</u>.

# Attitudes towards a Hospitalist Program in Prince Albert

Elizabeth Hogeweide, FMR II; Reed Gillanders, FMR II; James Samson, MD, CCFP(EM); Francois Rossouw, MBChB, CCFP(EM)(AM); Rhonda Bryce, MD, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### Abstract

**Background:** Many Canadian hospitals are adopting an inpatient hospitalist model to manage growing numbers of complex patients without a family doctor. Hospitalist implementation has shown decreased length and cost of admissions. Utility of a hospitalist program in Prince Albert has been long debated, but stakeholder attitudes have not been surveyed formally.

**Research Question:** What are the opinions of stakeholders, including family physicians, emergency physicians, specialists, administrators, and nurses, regarding implementation of a hospitalist service in Prince Albert?

**Methods/Methodology:** A survey (online or paper-based) was distributed to nurses, physicians, and administrators involved with the adult medicine wards at the Victoria Hospital. Data regarding demographics, the need for inpatient care reform, support for a hospitalist approach, which patients should be under hospitalist care, which physicians should provide care, and interest in becoming a hospitalist was collected using multiple-choice questions. Response frequencies were determined overall and compared by cross-tabulation (Chi-square/Fisher's exact tests) for differences by profession and years of experience. Multiple-choice questions offered some open-ended "other" options; one text field also recorded views about the ideal hospitalist model. These qualitative responses were analyzed by thematic analysis. Approvals for this cross-sectional study were obtained from the University of Saskatchewan's Behavioural Research Ethics Board and the Saskatchewan Health Authority.

**Results/Findings:** Respondents (95%) strongly supported a hospitalist model. Physicians favored a version in which family physicians could opt out of care provision (74%), contrasting nurses who most often preferred hospitalist-only care (47%, p<0.0001). Among family physicians, 61% were somewhat or very interested in becoming a hospitalist. Open-ended responses centered on support for the hospitalist model, retaining an opt-in/out approach, and the improved physician accessibility the hospitalist approach provides.

**Discussion:** Currently, inpatient care in Prince Albert is conducted by family physicians caring for their own patients. The results of this survey strongly supports change and emphasizes that a hospitalist model would be desirable.

**Conclusions:** We have clarified perspectives of stakeholders regarding a hospitalist model for Prince Albert. Overall, they support this approach.

**Recommendations:** Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, an interim hospitalist service was implemented in Prince Albert. Further research should evaluate if attitudes have changed following implementation.

- 1. Wachter RM, Goldman L. Zero to 50,000—the 20th anniversary of the hospitalist. N Engl J Med. 2016 Sep;375(11):1009-11.
- 2. Wachter RM. An introduction to the hospitalist model. Ann Intern Med. 1999 Feb;130(4 Pt 2):338-42.
- 3. Halasyamani LK, Valenstein PN, Friedlander MP, Cowen ME. A comparison of two hospitalist models with traditional care in a community teaching hospital. Am J Med. 2005 May;118(5):536-43.
- 4. Kaboli PJ, Barnett MJ, Rosenthal GE. Associations with reduced length of stay and costs on an academic hospitalist service. Am J Manag Care. 2004 Aug;10(8):561-8.
- 5. Phy MP, Vanness DJ, Melton LJ 3rd, Long KH, Schleck CD, Larson DR, et al. Effects of a hospitalist model on elderly patients with hip fracture. Arch Intern Med. 2005 Apr;165(7):796-801.
- 6. Rachoin JS, Skaf J, Cerceo E, Fitzpatrick E, Milcarek B, Kupersmith E, et al. The impact of hospitalists on length of stay and costs: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Manag Care. 2012 Jan;18(1):23-30.
- 7. van Walraven C. The influence of hospitalist continuity on the likelihood of patient discharge in general medicine patients. J Hosp Med. 2018 Oct;13(10):692-4.
- 8. Wachter RM, Goldman L. The hospitalist movement 5 years later. JAMA. 2002 Jan;287(4):487-94.
- White HL, Glazier RH. Do hospitalist physicians improve the quality of inpatient care delivery? A systematic review of process, efficiency and outcome measures. BMC Med [Internet]. 2011 May 18 [cited 2020 May 8];9:[22 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1741-7015-9-58</u>.
- Goodwin JS, Salameh H, Zhou J, Singh S, Kuo YF, Nattinger AB. Association of hospitalist years of experience with mortality in the hospitalized Medicare population. JAMA Intern Med. 2018 Feb;178(2):196-203.
- 11. Meltzer D, Manning WG, Morrison J, Shah MN, Jin L, Guth T, et al. Effects of physician experience on costs and outcomes on an academic general medicine service: results of a trial of hospitalists. Ann Intern Med. 2002 Dec;137(11):866-74.
- 12. Kermode-Scott B. Calgary's pioneering hospitalist program a success. Can Fam Physician. 1999 Oct; 45:(10)2539-40, 2544-5.
- 13. Sullivan P. Enter the hospitalist: new type of patient creating a new type of specialist. CMAJ. 2000 May;162(9):1345-6.
- 14. Nelson JR, Whitcomb WF. Organizing a hospitalist program: an overview of fundamental concepts. Med Clin North Am. 2002 Sep;86(4):887-909.
- 15. Auerbach AD, Nelson EA, Lindenauer PK, Pantilat SZ, Katz PP, Wachter RM. Physician attitudes toward and prevalence of the hospitalist model of care: results of a national survey. Am J Med. 2000 Dec;109(8):648-53.

- 16. Auerbach AD, Davis RB, Phillips RS. Physician views on caring for hospitalized patients and the hospitalist model of inpatient care. J Gen Intern Med. 2001 Feb;16(2):116-9.
- 17. Lindenauer PK, Pantilat SZ, Katz PP, Wachter RM. Hospitalists and the practice of inpatient medicine: results of a survey of the National Association of Inpatient Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 1999 Feb;130(4 Pt 2):343-9.
- 18. Sox HC. The hospitalist model: perspectives of the patient, the internist, and internal medicine. Ann Intern Med. 1999 Feb;130(4 Pt 2):368-72.
- 19. Auerbach AD, Aronson MD, Davis RB, Phillips RS. How physicians perceive hospitalist services after implementation: anticipation vs reality. Arch Intern Med. 2003 Oct;163(19):2330-6.
- 20. Kotrlik JW, Higgins CC. Organizational research: determining appropriate sample size in survey research appropriate sample size in survey research. Inf Technol Learn Perform J. 2001;19(1):43-51.
- 21. Baruch Y, Holtom BC. Survey response rate levels and trends in organizational research. Hum Relat. 2008 Aug;61(8):1139-60.
- 22. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol. 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101.
- Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council. Tri-council policy statement (TCPS 2): ethical conduct for research involving humans [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; 2018. 231 p. Available from: <u>https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/ documents/tcps2-2018-en-interactive-final.pdf</u>.

## Methadone for chronic pain management: A cross-sectional analysis of patient experiences in Prince Albert

Anna Redekop, FMR II; Kayla Hack, FMR II; Leo Lanoie, MD, CCFP, FCFP; Breanna Davis, MD, CCFP

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

# Abstract

**Background:** More people live with chronic pain than cancer, heart disease, and diabetes combined. Research has shown methadone to be a promising analgesic for the management of chronic pain. Despite its proven efficacy, methadone is not covered by the province of Saskatchewan for chronic pain.

**Research Question(s):** In patients with chronic pain, what were the indications for initiating methadone? Has their treatment given them adequate pain relief when other analgesics have failed? What were the barriers, if any, in accessing treatment? This study aims to gain a better understanding of the patterns of utilization of methadone for chronic pain in Prince Albert and to learn about patient experiences with methadone.

**Methods/Methodology:** This was a cross-sectional analysis. Data was collected using a survey distributed to chronic pain patients at the Prince Albert Co-operative Health Centre. Microsoft Excel was used to input data and generate graphs. Ethics approval was granted by the University of Saskatchewan's Behavioural Research Ethics Board.

**Results/Findings:** Twenty-five surveys were collected. Most participants (68%) were using methadone alone for pain control, but all had tried other medications prior to methadone. The most common type of pain treated with methadone was neuropathic, and the most common location was back pain. All participants reported a decrease in their pain severity with methadone. Most (72%) reported side-effects from methadone, but none considered stopping because of them. No one identified being hesitant to start methadone, and no one reported stigma as playing a significant role in their decision to take methadone.

**Discussion:** The results were consistent with previous studies in showing methadone to be an effective form of chronic pain management. Based on the literature, it was surprising to see that stigma did not act as a barrier in patients' decision to use methadone for their pain.

**Conclusions:** Methadone was effective at managing chronic neuropathic pain when other medications had failed, and no barriers were perceived by patients in accessing this medication.

**Recommendations:** We hope the province of Saskatchewan will consider coverage of methadone for the purpose of chronic pain management, as it has been shown to be an effective treatment option.

- 1. Moulin DE, Clark AJ, Gilron I, Ware MA, Watson CP, Sessle BJ, et al. Pharmacological management of chronic neuropathic pain—consensus statement and guidelines from the Canadian Pain Society. Pain Res Manag. 2007 Spring;12(1):13-21.
- 2. Nuckols TK, Anderson L, Popescu I, Diamant AL, Doyle B, Di Capua P, et al. Opioid prescribing: a systematic review and critical appraisal of guidelines for chronic pain. Ann Intern Med. 2014 Jan;160(1):38-47.
- 3. Healthline [Internet]. San Francisco (CA): Healthline; c2005-2020. America is losing the war on chronic pain; 2017 [cited 2020 May 12];[20 screens]. Available from: https://www.healthline.com/health-news/america-is-losing-the-war-on-chronic-pain.
- 4. Morley J, Makin M. The use of methadone in cancer pain poorly responsive to other opiates. Pain Rev. 1998 Apr;5(1):51-8.
- 5. Stringer J, Welsh C, Tommasello A. Methadone-associated QT interval prolongation and torsades de pointes. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2009 May;66(9):825-33.
- 6. Ayonrinde OT, Bridge DT. The rediscovery of methadone for cancer pain management. Pain. 2000 Nov;173(10):536-40.
- 7. Leppert W. The role of methadone in cancer pain treatment–a review. Int J Clin Pract. 2009 Jul;63(7):1095-109.
- 8. Brown R, Kraus C, Fleming M, Reddy S. Methadone: applied pharmacology and use as adjunctive treatment in chronic pain. Postgrad Med J. 2004 Nov;80(949):654-9.
- 9. Keane H. Categorising methadone: addiction and analgesia. Int J Drug Policy. 2013 Nov;24(6):18-24.
- 10. Shah S, Diwan S. Methadone: does stigma play a role as a barrier to treatment of chronic pain. Pain Physician. 2010 May-Jun;13(3):289-93.
- 11. Upshur CC, Bacigalupe G, Luckmann R. "They don't want anything to do with you": patient views of primary care management of chronic pain. Pain Med. 2010 Dec;11(12):1791-8.
- 12. Government of Saskatchewan [Internet]. Regina (SK): Government of Saskatchewan; c2020. Saskatchewan drug plan; 2020 [cited 2020 May 12];[3 screens]. Available from: <u>http://formulary.drugplan.ehealthsask.ca/SearchFormulary/BG/603451</u>.
- 13. Wedam EF, Bigelow GE, Johnson RE, Nuzzo PA, Haigney MC. QT-interval effects of methadone, levomethadyl, and buprenorphine in a randomized trial. Arch Intern Med. 2007 Dec;167(22):2469-75.
- 14. Ray WA, Chung CP, Murray KT, Hall K, Stein CM. Prescription of long-acting opioids and mortality in patients with chronic noncancer pain. Jama. 2016 Jun;315(22):2415-23.

# An examination of factors that enhanced or inhibited successful presentation to counselling services in patients of the North Battleford Primary Health Centre with depression and/or anxiety disorders

Hari Hullur, FMR II; Katherine Gorsalitz, MD, CCFP; Dallas Savoie, MA, PhD; Tanya Verrall, PhD; Rhonda Bryce, MD, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

Abstract	

**Background:** Referral from the Primary Health Centre to the North Battleford Mental Health Clinic (MHC) for mental health counselling services operates predominantly on a self-referral model. Factors that influence attendance elsewhere have been described in the literature, but local data is lacking, and the effect of a formal referral has not been well described.

**Research Question(s):** What is the influence of demographic factors on attendance rates to counselling appointments? What are patients' perspectives on the process of securing and attending a counselling appointment?

**Methods/Methodology:** This was a mixed-methods study. Phase 1 of the study employed a retrospective chart review. Phase 2 involved semi-structured telephonic interviews patients of MHC. Analysis utilized logistic regression, Kaplan-Meier survival analysis, and thematic analysis. The University of Saskatchewan's Behavioural Research Ethics Board approved this study as did the Primary Health Centre, MHC, and the Saskatchewan Health Authority

**Results/Findings:** Attendance rate to counselling services at the MHC was 32.8%. Age over 30 years, home-to-MHC distance of less than 3km, and presence of a formal referral were associated with increased attendance to MHC. Odds ratios were 5.6 (95% CI: 1.2-26.9), 4.2 (95% CI: 1.4-12.7), and 17.8 (95% CI: 4.9-64.6) respectively. Three themes emerged through interviews: 1) Facilitators: rapid access to services, intake via phone, ability to self-refer, and feeling listened, 2) Barriers: impact of psychiatric/comorbid illnesses, and personal feelings of weakness, 3) Areas for improvement: lack of knowledge about emergency services.

**Discussion:** Living less than 3km from MHC is likely significant as this distance corresponds with the city limits of North Battleford. Formal referral is likely to have significant impact as patients are called to make an appointment and followed when a referral is sent. Based on the interviews, patients largely prefer to self-refer, but this may be explained by selection bias. The effect of their psychiatric or comorbid illnesses on their ability to attend appointments was notable.

**Conclusions:** Formal referral appears to have the most significant effect on attendance rates to MHC. Qualitative factors that assist and hinder attendance must also be addressed in any future interventions, including consideration of the impact of patients' comorbid illnesses.

- 1. Sparr LF, Moffitt MC, Ward MF. Missed psychiatric appointments: who returns and who stays away. Am J Psychiatry. 1993 May;150(5):801-5.
- Brown JSL. Increasing access to psychological treatments for adults by improving uptake and equity: rationale and lessons from the UK. Int J Ment Health Syst [Internet]. 2018 Nov 9 [cited 2020 May 4];12:[4 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-018-0246-7</u>.
- 3. Kennedy I, Whybrow D, Jones N, Sharpley J, Greenberg N. A service evaluation of self-referral to military mental health teams. Occup Med (Lond). 2016 Jul;66(5):394-8.
- 4. Cullen BA. Altering the attendance rate successfully for new patients at an outpatient mental health clinic. Psychiatr Serv. 2018 Dec;69(12):1212-4.
- Rise MB, Evensen GH, Moljord IEO, Rø M, Bjørgen D, Eriksen L. How do patients with severe mental diagnosis cope in everyday life—A qualitative study comparing patients' experiences of self-referral inpatient treatment with treatment as usual? BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2014 Aug 15 [2020 May 4];14(1):[11 p.]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-14-347.
- Olsø TM, Gudde CB, Moljord IEO, Evensen GH, Antonsen DØ, Eriksen L. More than just a bed: mental health service users' experiences of self-referral admission. Int J Ment Health Syst [Internet]. 2016 Feb 25 [cited 2020 May 4];10(1):[7 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-016-0045-y</u>.
- 7. Kruse GR, Rohland BM, Wu X. Factors associated with missed first appointments at a psychiatric clinic. Psychiatr Serv. 2002 Sep;53(9):1173-6.
- 8. Gallucci G, Swartz W, Hackerman F. Impact of the wait for an initial appointment on the rate of kept appointments at a mental health center. Psychiatr Serv. 2005 Mar;56(3):344-6.
- 9. Chen A. Noncompliance in community psychiatry: a review of clinical interventions. Hosp Community Psychiatry. 1991 Mar;42(3):282-7.
- Gros DF, Morland LA, Greene CJ, Acierno R, Strachan M, Egede LE, et al. Delivery of evidence-based psychotherapy via video telehealth. J Psychopathol Behav Assess. 2013 Jul;35(4):506-21.
- 11. Ruskin PE, Silver-Aylaian M, Kling MA, Reed SA, Bradham DD, Hebel JR, et al. Treatment outcomes in depression: comparison of remote treatment through telepsychiatry to in-person treatment. Am J Psychiatry. 2004 Aug;161(8):1471-6.
- 12. Durland L, Interian A, Pretzer-Aboff I, Dobkin R. Effect of telehealth-to-home interventions on quality of life for individuals with depressive and anxiety disorders. Smart Homecare Technol Telehealth. 2014 Nov;2014:105-19.

# Examining the appropriateness and associated cost of routine preoperative examinations in a Saskatoon Primary Health Care Clinic

Leah Karnes, FMR II; Cody Secord, FMR II; Aidan Vooght, FMR II; Carla Holinaty, MD, CCFP

Department of Academic Family Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

Abstract	

**Background:** Routine preoperative examinations performed by family physicians, regardless of surgery type or patient comorbidities, is common. In Saskatoon, these assessments are performed prior to all elective surgical procedures. Despite their frequency, evidence supporting their effect on intraoperative and post-operative surgical outcomes is lacking (1). This leads to uncertainty as to whether routine preoperative assessments should be required and if these resources could be better utilized elsewhere.

**Research Questions:** Among adult patients attending a primary care clinic, do preoperative visits done by family physicians change patient management as assessed by preoperative test ordering and medication adjustment? What are the associated costs of completing these exams?

**Methods/Methodology:** Patients who had a preoperative assessment (Billing Code 15B) completed from August 1st, 2018 to July 31, 2019 who were  $\geq 18$  years old at West Winds Primary Health Centre were included. A total of 273 patients were identified, with subsequent chart review and descriptive analysis performed.

**Results/Findings:** Of the 273 patients included, it was found that 21 (7.7%) underwent preoperative medication adjustments, 21 (7.7%) had preoperative investigations ordered, and 39 (14.3%) received either or both. Of total patients, 36 (13.2%) were evaluated by both the pre assessment clinic (PAC) as well as their family physician. For each preoperative examination a family physician bills MSB \$66.60. Over the course of our study, West Winds Primary Health Centre billed a total of \$18,181.80 for all adult preoperative assessments completed. The study was approved by the University of Saskatchewan Biomedical Research Ethics Board and the Saskatchewan Health Authority.

**Discussion:** Despite medical comorbidities being common, preoperative management by a family physician, including adjusting medications or ordering investigations was infrequent. Some patients had preoperative evaluations by both their family physician as well as at the PAC, indicating the evaluation by the family physician may be duplicated by the anesthesiologist.

**Conclusions/Recommendations:** Although our data demonstrated that a change in preoperative management was uncommon after preoperative examination completed by family physicians, further discussion and research into this topic should continue in order to determine whether such

evaluations are essential and whether family physicians are the correct practitioners to be performing them.

- 1. Narr BJ, Hansen TR, Warner MA. Preoperative laboratory screening in healthy Mayo patients: cost-effective elimination of tests and unchanged outcomes. Mayo Clin Proc. 1991 Feb;66(2):155–9.
- 2. Pasternak LR. Preoperative testing: moving from individual testing to risk management. Anesth Analg. 2009 Feb;108(2):393–4.
- 3. Chung F, Yuan H, Yin L, Vairavanathan S, Wong DT. Elimination of preoperative testing in ambulatory surgery. Anesth Analg. 2009 Feb;108(2):467–75.
- 4. Schock K, Ragan A, Huang JT. Defunding preoperative histories and physical exams: putting the cart before the evidence? Can J Ophthalmol. 2019 Apr;54(2):171–5.
- 5. Brown SR, Brown J. Who do physicians order unnecessary preoperative tests? A qualitative study. Fam Med. 2011 May;43(5):338-43.
- 6. Kumar C, Salzam B, Colburn J. Preoperative assessment in older adults: a comprehensive approach. Am Fam Physician. 2018 Aug;98(4):214-20.
- 7. Sigmund AE, Stevens ER, Blitz JD, Ladapo JA. Use of preoperative testing and physicians' response to professional society guidance. JAMA Intern Med. 2015 Aug;175(8):1352-9.
- Hack-Adams N, King N, Ahuja M, Higgs S. Optimising the pre-operative investigative work up for elective surgical patients. BMJ Qual Improv Rep [Internet]. 2015 Jun 24 [cited 2020 May 12];4(1):[3 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org10.1136/bmjquality.</u> <u>u206272.w2608</u>.
- 9. Wijeysundera DN, Austin PC, Beattie WS, Hux JE, Laupacis A. Variation in the practice of preoperative medical consultation for major elective noncardiac surgery: a population-based study. Anesthesiology. 2012 Jan;116(1):25-34.
- 10. Chung F, Mezei G, Tong D. Pre-existing medical conditions as predictors of adverse events in day-case surgery. Br J Anaesth. 1999 Aug;83(2):262–70.

# Does implementing an appointment no-show fee decrease the amount of no-shows within a one-year period?

Jason Kinnin, FMR II; Ryan Toews, FMR I; Zach Turcotte, FMR I; Tara Lee, MD, CCFP; Adam Clay, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

# Abstract

**Background:** The Associate Family Physician's Clinic in Swift Current implemented a no-show fee policy on January 1st, 2019 in an effort to reduce missed patient appointments and improve clinic flow.

**Research Question(s):** Does the implementation of no-show fee decrease the number of patient no-shows over a one-year period in a family medicine clinic?

**Methods/Methodology:** This study was a pre and post implementation cohort analysis. The clinics EMR was used to extract the age, gender and attendance status for each appointment booked in the year before and after the implementation of the policy. Chi-square or McNemar tests were used to compare no-show rates before and after the implementation of the no-show policy, as appropriate. Chi-square or Mann-Whitney U tests were performed to ascertain the effect of age and sex on the likelihood of patients missing an appointment in 2019. An Exemption was obtained from the University of Saskatchewan's Biomedical Research Ethics Board.

**Results/Findings:** There was no significant reduction in the proportion of patient who noshowed after the fee policy was implemented (9.5% vs 10.1%, P = .256). There was also no significant reduction in the proportion of patients who no-showed more than once (1.5% vs 1.4%, P=.595). There was no difference among the sexes in terms of no-show rates in 2019, but the median patient age who no-showed (41 years; IQR 25-63 years), was significantly lower than those who showed for all appointments in the same year (50 years; IQR 28-66 years), P<0.001.

**Discussion:** The no-show fee did not have any significant reduction on the number of patients who no-showed over a one-year period. Nor was there a decrease in the number of patients who no-showed more than once. Possible reasons for this include patients not knowing about the no-show fee, the no-show fee only being applied after missing two visits, or patients not finding this enough incentive to change their usual behavior.

**Conclusions:** Overall, this no-show fee did not reduce the number of missed appointments in the year after it was implemented.

- 1. Shahab I, Meili R. Examining non-attendance of doctor's appointments at a community clinic in Saskatoon. Can Fam Physician. 2019 Jun;65(6):e264-8.
- Saskatchewan Medical Association. Payment schedule for insured services provided by a physician [Internet]. Saskatoon (SK): Saskatchewan Medical Association; 2019. 303 p. <u>https://www.sma.sk.ca/kaizen/content/files/Payment%20Schedule%20-</u>%20October%201%2c%202019%20-%20FINAL.PDF.
- Mohamed K, Mustafa A, Tahtamouni S, Taha E, Hassan R. A quality improvement project to reduce the 'no show' rate in a paediatric neurology clinic. BMJ Qual Improv Rep [Internet]. 2016 Aug 31 [cited 2020 May 5];5(1):[4 p.]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjquality.u209266.w3789.
- Tan E, Shah A, De Souza W, Harrison M, Chettur C, Onathukattil M, et al. Improving the patient booking service to reduce the number of missed appointments at East London NHS Foundation Trust Community Musculoskeletal Physiotherapy Service. BMJ Open Qual [Internet]. 2017 Oct 31 [cited 2020 May 5];6(2):[6 p.]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjoq-2017-000093.
- 5. Covert LT, Slevin JT, Hatterman J. The effect of telerehabilitation on missed appointment rates. Int J Telerehabil. 2018 Dec;10(2):65–72.
- 6. DuMontier C, Rindfleisch K, Pruszynski J, Frey JJ 3rd. A multi-method intervention to reduce no-shows in an urban residency clinic. Fam Med. 2013 Oct;45(9):634–41.
- 7. Mander GTW, Reynolds L, Cook A, Kwan MM. Factors associated with appointment nonattendance at a medical imaging department in regional Australia: a retrospective cohort analysis. J Med Radiat Sci. 2018 Sep;65(3):192-9.
- 8. Lesaca T. Assessing the influence of a no-show fee on patient compliance at a CMHC. Adm Policy Ment Health. 1995 Jul;22(6):629-31.
- 9. Dieren Q, Rijckmans MJN, Mathijssen JJP, Lobbestael J, Arntz AR. Reducing no-show behavior at a community mental health center. J Community Psychol. 2013 Sep;41(7):844-50.

# Illnesses and injuries at the 2019 Western Canada Summer Games: a description of the polyclinic and regional hospital Emergency Department visits

McKenzie Lim, FMR II; Benjamin Thistlewood, FMR II; Jason Gatzke, MD, CCFP(EM); Adam Clay, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### ABSTRACT

**Background:** Sports injury data is key to devising programs to help reduce such injuries in the future. It is unclear if or how large sporting events impact local emergency departments. This study aimed to describe the incidence of injuries and illnesses at the 2019 Western Canada Summer Games, and the impact of the Games on the regional hospital emergency department.

**Research Question(s):** What was the incidence of injuries and illnesses at the 2019 Western Canada Summer Games? What was the impact of the Games on the regional hospital emergency department?

**Methods/Methodology:** We used a retrospective cohort study design. We performed a chart review using two data sources – the polyclinic and emergency department (ED) electronic medical records. For the ED data, we compared 2019 with the year prior. An Exemption was provided by the Research Ethics Board of the former Regina Qu'Appelle Health Authority.

**Results/Findings:** The overall clinical incidence of illness was 51 per 1,000 athletes, and for injury was 100 per 1,000 athletes. The most common illness was respiratory (n=17, 25.8%), and the most common injury was a strain/sprain (n=74, 56.9%). In 2019, length of stay increased from 105 minutes to 120 minutes (p = 0.002), and level of acuity was also higher (p = 0.037). However, there were fewer procedures done in 2019 (n=74) compared to 2018 (n=122) (p = <0.001). Overall, 21 patients attended the ED and indicated they were in town for the Games.

**Discussion:** The data was incomplete in many cases, which made it difficult to draw conclusions and make recommendations. However, it appeared consistent with previous studies.

**Conclusions and Recommendations:** Injuries were twice as common as illnesses at the Games. Strains/sprains and respiratory illnesses were seen the most. The Games were associated with increased ED length of stay and level of acuity increased, however, not with the number of procedures. Further studies should use established methods for recording and reporting epidemiological data on illnesses and injuries in sport, and in emergency departments. Further research and external validation studies are needed.

- Forbes SL. Injury prevention in sport and physical activity in Ontario: what's the game plan? [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Play Safe Initiative; 2015. 28 p. Available from: <u>http://www.playsafeinitiative.ca/uploads/3/0/6/4/3064403/play\_safe\_white\_paper\_2016.pdf</u>.
- 2. Finley CR, Chan DS, Garrison S, Korownyk C, Kolber MR, Campbell S, et al. What are the most common conditions in primary care? Systematic review. Can Fam Physician. 2018 Nov;64(11):832-40.
- 3. Junge A, Engebretsen L, Alonso JM, Renström P, Mountjoy M, Aubry M, et al. Injury surveillance in multi-sport events: the International Olympic Committee approach. Br J Sports Med. 2008 Jun;42(6):413-21.
- 4. Bahr R, Clarsen B, Derman W, Dvorak J, Emery CA, Finch CF, et al. International Olympic Committee consensus statement: methods for recording and reporting of epidemiological data on injury and illness in sport 2020 (including STROBE Extension for Sport Injury and Illness Surveillance (STROBE-SIIS)). Br J Sports Med. 2020 Apr;54(7):372-89.
- 5. World Health Organization. Public health for mass gatherings: key considerations [Internet]. Geneva (CE): World Health Organization; 2015. 180 p. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/162109/WHO\_HSE\_GCR\_2015.5\_eng.pdf ?sequence=1.
- 6. Government of British Columbia. British Columbia major planned events guidelines [Internet]. Vancouver (BC): Government of British Columbia; 2014. 57 p. Available from: <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/public-safety-and-emergency-services/emergency-preparedness-response-recovery/local-government/majorplannedevents guidelines.pdf</u>.
- Hughes HE, Colon-Gonzalez FJ, Fouillet A, Elliot AJ, Caserio-Schonemann C, Hughes TC, et al. The influence of a major sporting event upon emergency department attendances; a retrospective cross-national European study. PLoS One [Internet]. 2018 Jun 13 [cited 2020 May 12];13(6):[14 p.].. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0198665</u>.
- 8. Meites E, Brown JF. Ambulance need at mass gatherings. Prehosp Disaster Med. 2010 Nov-Dec;25(6):511-4.
- 9. Tourism Saskatchewan. 2019 Western Canada Summer Games economic impact report [Internet]. Regina (SK): Tourism Saskatchewan; 2020. 6 p. Available from: http://www.swiftcurrent.ca/home/showdocument?id=16618.
- Palmer-Green D, Elliott N. Sports injury and illness epidemiology: Great Britain Olympic Team (TeamGB) surveillance during the Sochi 2014 Winter Olympic Games. Br J Sports Med. 2015 Jan;49(1):25-9.
- 11. Government of Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; c2020. Daily data report for August 2018; 2019 Nov 4 [cited 2020 May 12];[5 screens]. Available from: <a href="https://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate\_data/daily\_data\_e.html?hlyRange=1994-11-29%7C2020-05-11&dlyRange=1959-01-01%7C2020-05-11&mlyRange=1959-01-01%7C2020-05-11&mlyRange=1959-01-01%7C2020-05-11&mlyRange=1959-01-01%7C2007-11-01&StationID=3157&Prov=SK&urlExtension=\_e.html&searchType=stnProv&optLimit=specDate&StartYear=2018&EndYear=2018&selRowPerPage=25&Line=81&Month=8&Day=1&lstProvince=SK&timeframe=2&Year=2018.</p>

# Child sexual exploitation: A survey of knowledge and comfort level of primary care providers in Saskatchewan

Kira Nyhus-Runtz, FMR II; Payton Pederson, FMR II; Sarah Liskowich, MD, CCFP; Barb Beaurivage, NP; Adam Clay, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

# Abstract

**Background:** Human trafficking is a worldwide issue and the majority of victims are not identified by governmental or law enforcement agencies. A quarter of these victims are under the age of eighteen. About 30% of human trafficking victims access health care, but most are not identified. Surveys of health professionals show there is a lack of confidence in training regarding recognition and management of human trafficking victims.

**Research Question(s):** What is the knowledge and comfort level of healthcare providers who come in contact with children in identifying and managing sexually exploited children currently in Saskatchewan?

**Methods/Methodology:** An anonymous online survey was distributed to healthcare providers in Saskatchewan. Univariate analysis was used to compare the responses of physicians and other healthcare providers. The Research Ethics Board of the Saskatchewan Health Authority awarded ethics approval for this study (REB 19 122).

**Results/Findings:** There were 125 survey respondents composed of 90 physicians, 30 nurses and 5 psychologists. Only 7 had greater than 4 hours of formal training, and 40% of physicians and 51.4% of other health professionals had no formal training. 74.3% of respondents were neutral or uncomfortable with identifying or managing sexually exploited children. 97.8% of physicians and 97.1% of other healthcare professionals identified the legal requirement to report suspected victims of sexual exploitation, but only 84.4% and 65.6% respectively correctly identified the reporting body. Providers correctly identified risk factors and presenting complaints of sexually exploited children when given a list; however, there were gaps in identifying common signs of sexually exploited children, most notably signs of branding and grooming.

**Discussion:** Healthcare providers lack confidence in identifying and managing sexually exploited children. Their overall knowledge in identifying sexually exploited children was strong; however, the lack of knowledge surrounding specific signs alludes to a general knowledge of child abuse rather than knowledge specific to sexual exploitation.

**Conclusions:** There is a knowledge gap when identifying specific signs of child sexual exploitation, and a knowledge gap of where to report suspected child sexual exploitation victims.

**Recommendations:** We recommend the development of a child sexual exploitation educational module for healthcare providers in Saskatchewan.

- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime [Internet]. Geneva (CE): United Nations; c2020. UNODC on trafficking in persons and smuggling of migrants; [cited 2020 May 12];[5 screens]. Available from: <u>http://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/human-trafficking/</u>.
- US Department of State [Internet]. Washington (DC): US Department of State; c2009-2017. Trafficking in persons report 2013; 2014 [cited 2020 May 12];[3 screens]. Available from: <u>https://2009-2017.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/2013//index.htm</u>.
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. Global report on trafficking in persons 2012 [Internet]. Vienna (AU): United Nations; 2012. 102 p. Available from: <u>https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/glotip/Trafficking\_in\_Persons\_2012\_web.pdf</u>.
- Karam M. Trafficking in persons in Canada, 2014 [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; 2016. 10 p. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/85-002-x/2016001/article/14641-eng.pdf?st=BOdrhBSR</u>.
- 5. Institute of Medicine; National Research Council. Confronting commercial sexual exploitation and sex trafficking of minors in the United States. Washington (DC): National Academies Press; 2014. 53 p.
- 6. Peters K. The growing business of human trafficking and the power of emergency nurses to stop it. J Emerg Nurs. 2013 May;39(3):280-8.
- 7. Varma S, Gillespie S, Mccracken C, Greenbaum VJ. Characteristics of child commercial sexual exploitation and sex trafficking victims presenting for medical care in the United States. Child Abuse Negl. 2015 Jun;44:98–105.
- Sinha R, Tashakor E, Pinto C. Identifying victims of human trafficking in central Pennsylvania: a survey of health-care professionals and students. J Hum Traffick. 2018 Mar;4(2):165-75.
- 9. Donahue S, Schwien M, LaVallee D. Educating emergency department staff on the identification and treatment of human trafficking victims. J Emerg Nurs. 2019 Jan;45(1):16-23.
- Gozdziak E, Bump M. Data and research on human trafficking: bibliography of researchbased literature, 2008 [Internet]. Washington (DC): US Department of State; 2008. 59 p. Available from: <u>http://www.ncjrs.gov.cyber.usask.ca/pdffiles1/nij/grants/224392.pdf</u>.
- 11. Greenbaum J, Crawford-Jakubiak J. Child sex trafficking and commercial sexual exploitation: health care needs of victims. Pediatrics. 2015 Mar;135(3):566-74.
- Government of Saskatchewan. Saskatchewan child abuse protocol 2017 [Internet]. Regina (SK): Government of Saskatchewan; 2017. Available from: <u>http://publications.</u> gov.sk.ca/documents/17/18812-Saskatchewan-ChildAbuse-Protocol-2017.pdf.
- Canadian Medical Protective Agency [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Medical Protective Agency; c2020. Canadian Medical Protective Agency at a glance; [cited 2020 May 12];[3 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www.cmpa-acpm.ca/en/connect/mediaroom/the-canadian-medical-protective-association-at-a-glance</u>.
- 14. Canadian Medical Protective Agency [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Medical Protective Agency; c2020. Protecting children—reporting child abuse; [cited 2020 May

12];[4 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www.cmpa-acpm.ca/en/advice-publications/</u> browse-articles/2012/protecting-children-reporting-child-abuse.

 Greenbaum J, Bodrick N; Committee on Child Abuse and Neglect; Section on International Child Health. Global human trafficking and child victimization. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2017 Dec 1 [cited 2020 May 12];140(6):[14 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-3138</u>.

# An Examination of Advance Care Directives in the Emergency Department

Katelyn Postnikoff, FMR II; Karuna Khera, FMR II; Samuel Fanous, MD, CCFP; Rhonda Bryce, MD, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### Abstract

**Background:** Advance care directives (ACDs) are important in protecting patient autonomy and helping with end-of-life decision making. However, ACDs are widely underused, resulting in poor completion and documentation rates. This study aimed to depict ACD completion amongst elderly patients presenting to the Battlefords Union Hospital Emergency Department (BUH ED).

**Research Question(s):** Among male and female patients 65 years of age and older presenting to the BUH ED, how many have completed an ACD or appointed a health care proxy? If they have completed an ACD, who helped them, and did they bring it to the ED?

**Methods/Methodology:** Using convenience sampling and a 5-question survey, we investigated what percentage of patients 65 and older had completed an ACD or appointed a health care proxy. We also assessed potential relationships between age, gender, having a family physician, and having a health proxy using t-tests and chi-square/Fisher's exact analysis. The University of Saskatchewan's Behavioural Research Ethics Board approved this cross-sectional study.

**Results/Findings:** Sixty-three patients aged 65-97 years completed the survey, with a mean age of 77.2 years (standard deviation 8.5). Of total participants, 33.3% (n=21) had completed an ACD (95% confidence interval [CI] 22.0%-46.3%), and 38.1% (n=24) had appointed a health care proxy. Among those who had completed an ACD, a 'health care professional' had assisted only 4.8% (n=1) of the time, while family members were named in 42.9% of responses, and lawyers in 38.1%. Of the total participants, only 7.9% (95% CI 2.6%-17.6%) brought their ACD to the ED. The only statistically significant relationship was between those who completed an ACD and those who had appointed a proxy (p<0.0001).

**Discussion:** Only 33.3% of participants presenting to BUH ED had completed an ACD. For those who had one, physicians were rarely involved, and most people did not bring it to the ED. If an ACD was completed, likely a proxy had also been appointed.

**Conclusion**: ACD completion rates are low in rural Saskatchewan and correlate poorly with having a family physician.

**Recommendations:** More discussions from family physicians and awareness are needed to encourage better engagement with patients regarding their wishes for care.

- Brinkman-Stoppelenburg A, Rietjens JA, van der Heide A. The effects of advance care planning on end-of-life care: A systematic review. Palliat Med Lond. 2014 Sep;28(8):1000– 25.
- Canadian Hospice Palliative Care Association. Advance care planning in Canada: national framework [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Hospice Palliative Care Association; 2016 [cited 2020 May 7]. 2 p. Available from:

http://www.chpca.net/media/7449/acp\_synopsis\_of\_the\_framework\_sept\_16\_10.pdf.

- Guo B, Harstall C. Advance directives for end-of-life care in the elderly effectiveness of delivery modes [Internet]. Edmonton (AB): Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research; 2004 [cited 2018 Nov 22]. 52 p. Available from: http://citeseerz.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.583.3457&rep=rep1&type=pdf.
- 4. Pollack KM, Morhaim D, Williams MA. The public's perspectives on advance directives: implications for state legislative and regulatory policy. Health Policy. 2010 Jun;96(1):57–63.
- Pfirstinger J, Bleyer B, Blum C, Rechenmacher M, Wiese CH, Gruber H. Determinants of completion of advance directives: a cross-sectional comparison of 649 outpatients from private practices versus 2158 outpatients from a university clinic. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2017 Dec 21 [cited 2020 May 7];7(12):[9 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015708</u>.
- 6. Smucker WD, Ditto PH, Moore KA, Druley JA, Danks JH, Townsend A. Elderly outpatients respond favorably to a physician-initiated advance directive discussion. J Am Board Fam Pract. 1993 Sep-Oct;6(5):473–82.
- 7. Aoki T, Miyashita J, Yamamoto Y, Ikenoue T, Kise M, Fujinuma Y, et al. Patient experience of primary care and advance care planning: a multicentre cross-sectional study in Japan. Fam Pract. 2017 Apr;34(2):206–12.
- 8. Tierney WM, Dexter PR, Gramelspacher GP, Perkins AJ, Zhou X-H, Wolinsky FD. The effect of discussions about advance directives on patients' satisfaction with primary care. J Gen Intern Med. 2001 Jan;16(1):32–40.
- 9. Wright AA, Zhang B, Ray A, Mack JW, Trice E, Balboni T, et al. Associations between end-of-life discussions, patient mental health, medical care near death, and caregiver bereavement adjustment. JAMA. 2008 Oct;300(14):1665–73.
- Teno JM, Gruneir A, Schwartz Z, Nanda A, Wetle T. Association between advance directives and quality of end-of-life care: a national study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2007 Feb;55(2):189–94.
- Detering KM, Hancock AD, Reade MC, Silvester W. The impact of advance care planning on end of life care in elderly patients: randomised controlled trial. BMJ [Internet]. 2010 Mar 24 [cited 2020 May 7];340:[9 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1136/bmj.c1345</u>.
- 12. Zhang B, Wright AA, Huskamp HA, Nilsson ME, Maciejewski ML, Earle CC, et al. Health care costs in the last week of life: associations with end-of-life conversations. Arch Intern Med. 2009 Mar;169(5):480–8.
- 13. Teixeira AA, Hanvey L, Tayler C, Barwich D, Baxter S, Heyland DK. What do Canadians think of advanced care planning? Findings from an online opinion poll. BMJ Support Palliat Care. 2015 Mar;5(1):40–7.

- 14. Rao JK, Anderson LA, Lin FC, Laux JP. Completion of advance directives among U.S. consumers. J Prev Med. 2014 Jan;46(1):65–70.
- 15. Ishihara KK, Wrenn K, Wright SW, Socha CM, Cross M. Advance directives in the emergency department: too few, too late. Acad Emerg Med. 1996 Jan;3(1):50–3.
- 16. Llovera I, Ward MF, Ryan JG, Lesser M, Sama AE, Crough D, et al. Why don't emergency department patients have advance directives? Acad Emerg Med. 1999 Oct;6(10):1054–60.
- 17. Davis CP. Emergency department visits: we are not prepared. Am J Emerg Med. 2012 Oct;30(8):1364–70.
- Harrison KL, Adrion ER, Ritchie CS, Sudore RL, Smith AK. Low completion and disparities in advance care planning activities among older Medicare beneficiaries. JAMA Intern Med. 2016 Dec;176(12):1872–5.
- 19. Glick KL, Mackay KM, Balasingam S, Dolan KR, Casper-Isaac S. Advance directives: barriers to completion. J N Y State Nurses Assoc. 1998 Mar;29(1):4–8.
- 20. Wilson DM, Houttekier D, Kunju SA, Birch S, Cohen J, MacLeod R, et al. A populationbased study on advance directive completion and completion intention among citizens of the western Canadian province of Alberta. J Palliat Care Montr. 2013 Spring;29(1):5–12.
- 21. Oulton J, Rhodes SM, Howe C, Fain MJ, Mohler MJ. Advance directives for older adults in the emergency department: a systematic review. J Palliat Med. 2015 Jun;18(6):500–5.
- 22. Platts-Mills TF, Richmond NL, LeFebvre EM, Mangipudi SA, Hollowell AG, Travers D, et al. Availability of advance care planning documentation for older emergency department patients: a cross-sectional study. J Palliat Med. 2017 Jan;20(1):74–8.
- 23. Llovera I, Mandel FS, Ryan JG, Ward MF, Sama A. Are emergency department patients thinking about advance directives? Acad Emerg Med. 1997 Oct;4(10):976–80.
- 24. Van Scoy LJ, Howrylak J, Nguyen A, Chen M, Sherman M. Family structure, experiences with end-of-life decision making, and who asked about advance directives impacts advance directive completion rates. J Palliat Med. 2014 Oct;17(10):1099–106.
- 25. Inoue M. The influence of sociodemographic and psychosocial factors on advance care planning. J Gerontol Soc Work. 2016 Jul;59(5):401–22.
- 26. Brown AJ, Shen MJ, Urbauer D, Taylor J, Parker PA, Carmack C, et al. Room for improvement: an examination of advance care planning documentation among gynecologic oncology patients. Gynecol Oncol. 2016 Sep;142(3):525–30.
- 27. Gamertsfelder EM, Seaman JB, Tate J, Buddadhumaruk P, Happ MB. Prevalence of advance directives among older adults admitted to intensive care units and requiring mechanical ventilation. J Gerontol Nurs Thorofare. 2016 Apr;42(4):34–41.
- 28. Ko E, Lee J. Completion of advance directives among low-income older adults: does race/ethnicity matter? Am J Hosp Palliat Med. 2014 May;31(3):247–53.
- 29. Ramsaroop SD, Reid MC, Adelman RD. Completing an advance directive in the primary care setting: what do we need for success? J Am Geriatr Soc. 2007 Feb;55(2):277–83.
- 30. Heyland DK, Barwich D, Pichora D, Dodek P, Lamontagne F, You JJ, et al. Failure to engage hospitalized elderly patients and their families in advance care planning. JAMA Intern Med. 2013 May;173(9):778–87.
- 31. Sam M, Singer PA. Canadian outpatients and advance directives: poor knowledge and little experience but positive attitudes. CMAJ. 1993 May;148(9):1497–502.

- 32. Silveira MJ, Wiitala W, Piette J. Advance directive completion by elderly Americans: a decade of change. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2014 Apr;62(4):706–10.
- 33. Jang Y, Park NS, Chiriboga DA, Radhakrishnan K, Kim MT. The knowing–doing gap in advance directives in Asian Americans: the role of education and acculturation. Am J Hosp Palliat Med. 2017 Nov;34(9):874–9.
- 34. Lahn M, Friedman B, Bijur P, Haughey M, Gallagher EJ. Advance directives in skilled nursing facility residents transferred to emergency departments. Acad Emerg Med. 2001 Dec;8(12):1158–62.
- 35. Bischoff KE, Sudore R, Miao Y, Boscardin WJ, Smith AK. Advance care planning and the quality of end-of-life care in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2013 Feb;61(2):209–14.
- 36. Clark MA, Ott M, Rogers ML, Politi MC, Miller SC, Moynihan L, et al. Advance care planning as a shared endeavor: completion of ACP documents in a multidisciplinary cancer program. Psychooncology. 2017 Jan;26(1):67–73.

# **Child Life Services: An Environmental Scan of Care in Pediatric Bleeding Disorder Programs**

Erin Russell, FMR II; Roona Sinha, MD, FRCPC; Rachel Tang, BA (Hon); Melanie Kaczur, BA (Hon), MA; Jason Hosain, MD, CCFP; Vivian R Ramsden, RN, PhD

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

# Abstract

**Background:** The care of children with bleeding disorders is a specialized field. Child Life Specialists work with pediatric patients and their families as part of a multidisciplinary team to provide family and patient-centered care. There was limited research within the field of Child Life services, and no studies have been published to date about the role of Child Life Specialists in bleeding disorders care.

**Research Question:** What is the Canadian experience of Child Life Services within the Canadian Pediatric Bleeding Disorder Programs?

**Methods/Methodology:** A literature review following by an Environmental Scan of Canadian Pediatric Bleeding Disorder Programs was undertaken. One or two individuals from each of the Canadian Pediatric Bleeding Disorder Programs were invited to participate. The telephone interviews were transcribed. Participants were given the opportunity to review their transcript. An inductive, thematic analysis was undertaken using NVivo 12 Pro. Ethics Approval was received from the University of Saskatchewan's Behavioural REB prior to commencement.

**Results/Findings & Discussion:** Fifty-seven percent of the programs reported limited or inadequate access to Child Life Services. Benefits were identified for not only the child but the parents/guardians and the healthcare system overall. Child Life Services were identified as being important in several domains, including: procedure preparation and support, education, and therapeutic play. There were also a variety of barriers identified that limited access to Child Life. Centers with minimal to no access identified that Child Life Services would be very beneficial for patient care.

**Conclusions:** There is currently inadequate access to Child Life Specialists for pediatric patients with bleeding disorders in Canada. A desire for improved access to Child Life Specialists was identified by many programs across Canada.

#### **Recommendations:**

- Children with bleeding disorders would benefit from having Child Life Specialists as team members within Canadian Pediatric Bleeding Disorder Programs. They have valuable skills to help this unique population to cope with their medical condition.
- It is critical that Family Physicians are aware of the unique needs and stresses of pediatric patients with bleeding disorders so they can assist in helping to provide psychosocial support for the pediatric patient and family.

- 1. Tyson ME, Bohl DD, Blickman JG. A randomized controlled trial: child life services in pediatric imaging. Pediatr Radiol. 2014 Oct;44(11):1426–32.
- 2. Brown C, Chitkara MB, Percelay JM, Betts JM, Jewell JA, Preuschoff CK, et al. Child life services. Pediatrics. 2014 May;133(5):e1471-78.
- 3. Hall JE, Patel DP, Thomas JW, Richards CA, Rogers PE, Pruitt CM. Certified child life specialists lessen emotional distress of children undergoing laceration repair in the emergency department. Clin Pediatr Emerg Med. 2018 Sep;34(9):603-6.
- 4. Hyland EJ, D'Cruz R, Harvey JG, Moir J, Parkinson C, Holland AJA. An assessment of early child life therapy pain and anxiety management: a prospective randomised controlled trial. Burns. 2015 Dec;41(8):1642–52.
- 5. Stevenson MD, Bivins CM, O'Brien K, Gonzalez del Rey JA. Child life intervention during angiocatheter insertion in the pediatric emergency department. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2005 Nov;21(11):712-8.
- 6. Diener ML, Lofgren AO, Isabella RA, Magana S, Choi C, Gourley C. Children's distress during intravenous placement: the role of child life specialists. Child Health Care. 2019 Jan;48(1):103–19.
- 7. Kulkarni R, Soucie JM. Pediatric hemophilia: a review. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2011 Oct;37(7):737–44.
- Dunn A, Patterson J, Biega CF, Grishchenko A, Luna J, Stanek JR, et al. A novel clinicianorchestrated virtual reality platform for distraction during pediatric intravenous procedures in children with hemophilia: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res [Internet]. 2019 Jan 1 [cited 2020 May 12];21(1):[11 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.2196/10902</u>.
- 9. Sherry DD. Avoiding the impact of musculoskeletal pain on quality of life in children with hemophilia. Orthop Nurs. 2008 Mar-Apr;27(2):103-8.
- 10. Rambod M, Forsyth K, Sharif F, Khair K. Assessment and management of pain in children and adolescents with bleeding disorders: a cross-sectional study from three haemophilia centres. Haemophilia. 2016 Jan;22(1):65–71.
- 11. Lambing A, Nichols CD, Munn JE, Anderson TL, Tortella BJ, Witkop ML. Patient, caregiver, and provider perceptions of pain and pain management in adolescents and young adults with bleeding disorders. Haemophilia. 2017 Nov;23(6):852–60.
- 12. Bandstra NF, Skinner L, LeBlanc C, Chambers CT, Hollon EC, Brennan D, et al. The role of child life in pediatric pain management: a survey of child life specialists. J Pain. 2008 Apr;9(4):320–9.
- Koller D. Child Life Council evidence-based practice statement: therapeutic play in pediatric healthcare [Internet]. Rockville (MD): Child Life Council; 2014. 10 p. Available from: <u>http://cite=seerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.690.</u> <u>7803&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u>.
- 14. Burns-Nader S, Hernandez-Reif M. Facilitating play for hospitalized children through child life services. Child Health Care. 2016 Jan 2;45(1):1–21.
- 15. Kain ZN, Caldwell-Andrews AA. Preoperative psychological preparation of the child for surgery: an update. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2005 Dec;23(4):597–614.

- 16. Koller D. Child Life Council evidence-based practice statement: preparing children and adolescents for medical procedures [Internet]. Rockville (MD): Child Life Council; 2009.
   13 p. Available from: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download;jsessionid=1B2092</u> <u>ECF7B09B04A2F91072490906A5?doi=10.1.1.690.7865&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u>.
- 17. Khan JJ, Donnelly LF, Koch BL, Curtwright LA, Dickerson JM, Hardin JL, et al. A program to decrease the need for pediatric sedation for CT and MRI. Appl Radiol. 2007 Apr;36 (4):30-3.
- de Amorim E, Silva CJT, Mackenzie A, Hallowell LM, Stewart SE, Ditchfield MR. Practice MRI: reducing the need for sedation and general anaesthesia in children undergoing MRI. Australas Radiol. 2006 Aug;50(4):319–23.

# Cryotherapy vs. salicylic acid for treatment of non-genital warts at the Alliance Clinic in Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan

Troy Simpson, FMR II; Jamie Stushnoff, MD, CCFP; Adam Clay, MSc

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### Abstract

**Background:** Warts are growths in the top layer of skin, which are caused by the Human Papillomavirus (HPV) family. Left on their own, most warts will spontaneously involute by 1 to 2 years. The two most used treatments with the best available evidence are topical salicylic acid and cryotherapy. Both options seem to be equivalent in efficacy, however, neither one provides a large difference compared to watchful waiting.

**Research Question(s):** Is there a difference in outcomes of non-genital warts between cryotherapy alone and cryotherapy plus salicylic acid treatments? Does the location of the wart influence how well the treatments work?

**Methods/Methodology:** This was an observational cohort study comparing cryotherapy with and without prior salicylic acid. Patients who were seen in the Alliance Health Clinic for wart treatments were recruited. Participants were contacted via phone to answer a questionnaire about treatment outcomes and satisfaction ratings. Ethics approval for the study was obtained from the Research Ethics Board of the former Regina Qu'Appelle Health Region.

**Results/Findings:** A total of 30 participants were included in this study, all of whom received cryotherapy. There were 18 who used salicylic acid prior to cryotherapy, and 3 who used it after. Demographics were similar when comparing both treatment groups, and when comparing different wart locations. Outcomes from cryotherapy were similar with or without prior salicylic acid use. Participants reported much higher satisfaction with cryotherapy than with salicylic acid.

**Discussion:** Participants generally reported disappointment that salicylic acid treatments took too long but they liked the ease of use, whereas they were satisfied with how quick cryotherapy was but complained about pain, blistering and scarring. This study unfortunately has many weaknesses, notably the low study numbers and recall bias.

**Conclusions:** Although there was no significant difference in outcomes of the two treatment groups and the wart location did not affect the outcomes, patients were significantly more satisfied with cryotherapy than with salicylic acid.

**Recommendations:** Treatment should ultimately be the patient's decision, especially since no treatment has been proven to be superior. Patients should be informed of what is available, pros and cons of treatments, as well as costs.

- 1. Sterling JC, Gibbs S, Haque Hussain SS, Mohd Mustapa MF, Handfield-Jones SE. British Association of Dermatologists' guidelines for the management of cutaneous warts 2014. Br J Dermatol. 2014 Oct;171(4):696–712.
- Kwok CS, Gibbs S, Bennett C, Holland R, Abbott R. Topical treatments for cutaneous warts. 2012 Sep 12 [cited 2020 May 12]. In: The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [Internet]. Hoboken (NJ): John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. c1999-2020. 129K. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD001781.pub3</u> Record No.: CD001781.
- 3. Herman BE, Corneli HM. A practical approach to warts in the emergency department. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2008 Apr;24(4):246-51.
- 4. Kilkenny M, Erlin K, Young R, Marks R. The prevalence of common skin conditions in Australian school students: 1. Common, plane and plantar viral warts. Br J Dermatol. 1998 May;138(5):840–5.
- Loo SK-F, Tang WYM. Warts (non-genital). BMJ Clin Evid [Internet]. 2014 Jun 12 [cited 2020 May 12];2014:[28 p.]. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc</u>/articles/PMC4054795/.
- 6. Van Haalen FM, Bruggink SC, Gussekloo J, Assendelft WJJ, Eekhof JAH. Warts in primary schoolchildren: prevalence and relation with environmental factors. Br J Dermatol. 2009 Jul;161(1):148–52.
- 7. Johnson M, Roberts J. Skin conditions and related need for medical care among persons 1-74 Years. United States, 1971-1974. Vital Heal Stat 11. 1978 Nov;(212):1–72.
- 8. Beliaeva TL. [The population incidence of wart]s. Vestn Dermatol Venerol. 1990 Dec;(2):55–8. Russian.
- 9. Massing AM, Epstein WL. Natural history of warts: a two-year study. Arch Dermatol. 1963 Mar;87(3):306–10.
- 10. Bacelieri R, Johnson SM. Cutaneous warts: an evidence-based approach to therapy. Am Fam Physician. 2005 Aug;72(4):647–52.
- 11. Boull C, Groth D. Update: treatment of cutaneous viral warts in children. Pediatr Dermatol. 2011 May-Jun;28(3):217–29.
- Cockayne S, Hewitt C, Hicks K, Jayakody S, Kang'ombe AR, Stamuli E, et al. Cryotherapy versus salicylic acid for the treatment of plantar warts (verrucae): a randomised controlled trial. BMJ [Internet]. 2011 Jun 7 [cited 2020 May 12];342:[7 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d3271</u>.
- 13. Dall'Oglio F, D'Amico V, Nasca MR, Micali G. Treatment of cutaneous warts. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2012 Apr;13(2):73–96.
- 14. Finley C, Korownyk C, Kolber MR. What works best for nongenital warts? Can Fam Physician. 2016 Dec 1;62(12):997-7.
- 15. Fox PA, Tung MY. Human papillomavirus: burden of illness and treatment cost considerations. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2005 Jun;6(6):365–81.
- 16. Gerlero P, Hernández-Martín Á. Treatment of warts in children: an update. Actas Dermosifiliogr. 2016 Sep;107(7):551–8.
- 17. Herschthal J, McLeod MP, Zaiac M. Management of ungual warts. Dermatol Ther. 2012 Nov-Dec;25(6):545–50.

- 18. Leman JA, Benton EC. Verrucas. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2000 May;1(3):143–9.
- 19. Micali G, Dall'Oglio F, Nasca MR, Tedeschi A. Management of cutaneous warts: an evidence-based approach. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2004 May;5(5):311–7.
- 20. Sterling J. Treatment of warts and molluscum: what does the evidence show? Curr Opin Pediatr. 2016 Aug;28(4):490-9.
- 21. Bruggink SC, Gussekloo J, Berger MY, Zaaijer K, Assendelft WJJ, de Waal MWM, et al. Cryotherapy with liquid nitrogen versus topical salicylic acid application for cutaneous warts in primary care: randomized controlled trial. CMAJ. 2010 Oct;182(15):1624–30.

# Examining patients' attitudes and perspectives towards medicinal and recreational cannabis use

Shane Singh, FMR II; Megan Clark, MD, CCFP; Adam Clay, MSc; Michelle McCarron, PhD

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### ABSTRACT

**Background:** With legalization of cannabis in Canada, it is important to consider implications of increased use. Evidence assessing its benefit has been inconsistent, with one of the largest cohort studies demonstrating increased pain severity and anxiety with use, while other studies have yielded contrary evidence.

**Research Question(s):** The purpose of this project was to identify gaps in patients' knowledge of indications and risks of cannabis, while understanding patterns of use. Thus, our research question was, "What are family medicine patients' understanding of the medicinal uses of cannabis and the potential harms from both medicinal and recreational use?"

**Methods/Methodology:** Using an 18-item questionnaire, we conducted a single-centre KAP study at the Regina Family Medicine Unit evaluating 112 patients' attitudes and perspectives towards cannabis use from November 18, 2019 to January 10, 2020. Ethical approval was obtained from the former Regina Qu'Appelle Health Region Research Ethics Board.

**Results/Findings:** Overall, 87% of participants stated that their cannabis use was unchanged postlegalization. Furthermore, men were significantly more likely to use cannabis regularly than women (p=0.029). Younger patients (<40 years old) were significantly more likely than older patients to have tried cannabis to treat medical conditions (p<0.001) and were also more likely to believe that cannabis had side effects (p=0.022).

**Discussion:** The majority of participants reported unchanged cannabis use, suggesting that use may be dictated by individual preferences as opposed to ease of access. Regular cannabis use in males was considerably higher in the study population (29.4%) compared to national figures (18.4%). Furthermore, participants were unclear as to indications and risks associated with use; greater than 50% of individuals believed there was benefit in treating anxiety, suggesting previously demonstrated associations between cannabis and anxiety as a potential explanation.

**Conclusions:** There are significant gaps in patients' knowledge towards cannabis use and associated benefits and harms. We hope that this research will serve to enact change on a public health and patient education level.

**Recommendations:** It would be valuable to quantify cannabis consumption before and after legalization to evaluate for significance while also exploring patients' knowledge of use and regulations regarding impaired driving and other legal ramifications.

- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Statistics Canada; c2020. What has changed since cannabis was legalized?; 2020 Feb 20 [updated 2020 Feb 21; cited 2020 May 5];[10 screens]. Available from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2020002/article/00002-eng.htm</u>.
- 2. Piper BJ, Beals ML, Abess AT, Nichols SD, Martin MW, Cobb CM, et al. Chronic pain patients' perspectives of medical cannabis. Pain. 2017 Jul;158(7):1373–9.
- 3. Campbell G, Hall WD, Peacock A, Lintzeris N, Bruno R, Larance B, et al. Effect of cannabis use in people with chronic non-cancer pain prescribed opioids: findings from a 4-year prospective cohort study. Lancet Public Health. 2018 Jul;3(7):e341–50.
- Deshpande A, Mailis-Gagnon A, Zoheiry N, Lakha SF. Efficacy and adverse effects of medical marijuana for chronic noncancer pain. Can Fam Physician. 2015 Aug;61(8):372– 81.
- 5. Andreae MH, Carter GM, Shaparin N, Suslov K, Ellis RJ, Ware MA, et al. Inhaled cannabis for chronic neuropathic pain: a meta-analysis of individual patient data. J Pain. 2015 Dec;16(12):1221–32.
- 6. Poli P, Crestani F, Salvadori C, Valenti I, Sannino C. Medical cannabis in patients with chronic pain: effect on pain relief, pain disability, and psychological aspects. A prospective non-randomized single arm clinical trial. Clin Ther. 2018 May-Jun;169(3):e102–7.
- Ware MA, Wang T, Shapiro S, Collet JP; COMPASS Study Team. Cannabis for the Management of Pain: Assessment of Safety Study (COMPASS). J Pain. 2015 Dec;16(12):1233–42.
- 8. Borgelt LM, Franson KL, Nussbaum AM, Wang GS. The pharmacologic and clinical effects of medical cannabis. Pharmacotherapy. 2013 Feb;33(2):195–209.
- 9. Whiting PF, Wolff RF, Deshpande S, Di Nislo M, Duffy S, Hernandez AV, et al. Cannabinoids for medical use: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2015 Jun;313(24):2456-73.
- 10. Spriggens L, Hides L. Patterns of cannabis use, psychotic-like experiences and personality styles in young cannabis users. Schizophr Res. 2015 Jun;165(1):3–8.
- 11. Fridberg DJ, Vollmer JM, O'Donnell BF, Skosnik PD. Cannabis users differ from nonusers on measures of personality and schizotypy. Psychiatry Res. 2011 Mar;186(1):46–52.
- University of Saskatchewan [Internet]. Saskatoon (SK): University of Saskatchewan; c2020. Ethics; [cited 2020 May 5];[2 screens]. Available from: <u>https://vpresearch.usask.</u> <u>ca/researchers/ethics1.php</u>.
- Ressing M, Blettner M, Klug SJ. Data analysis of epidemiological studies: part 11 of a series on evaluation of scientific publications. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2010 Mar;107(11):187– 92.
- 14. Qureshi MA, Paulus JK, Fregni F. Sample size calculation. In: Frengi F, Illigens BMW, editors. Critical thinking in clinical research: applied theory and practice using case studies. Oxford (UK): Oxford University Press; 2018. p. 225-42.
- Government of Saskatchewan. The Health Information Protection Act [Internet]. Regina (SK): Government of Saskatchewan; 2018. 38 p. Available from: <u>https://publications.</u> <u>saskatchewan.ca/#/products/4523</u>.

- 16. Tsang S, Royse CF, Terkawi AS. Guidelines for developing, translating, and validating a questionnaire in perioperative and pain medicine. Saudi J Anaesth. 2017 May;11(Suppl 1):S80–9.
- 17. Muehlheusser G, Roider A, Wallmeier N. Gender differences in honesty: groups versus individuals. Econ Lett. 2015 Mar;128:25-9.
- Kedzior KK, Laeber LT. A positive association between anxiety disorders and cannabis use or cannabis use disorders in the general population—a meta-analysis of 31 studies. BMC Psychiatry [Internet]. 2014 May 10 [cited 2020 May 5];14(1):[22 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-14-136</u>.

# Interpretation and management of genetic test results by Canadian family physicians: A multiple choice survey of performance

Stephanie Skinner, FMR II; Sarah Liskowich, MD, CCFP; Michelle McCarron, PhD

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan

#### Abstract

**Background:** Family physicians (FPs) will encounter genetic concerns within community practice. Studies show that FPs receive very little training in genetics, and lack knowledge about genetics and confidence in both taking family histories and managing this information. Nonetheless, FPs are ordering genetic tests, particularly for common genetic disorders; but their performance interpreting and managing genetic issues when presented with genetic test results has not been assessed.

**Research Question(s):** How do Canadian FPs compare to Canadian genetic counsellors (GCs) in interpreting and managing genetic testing results?

**Methods/Methodology:** FPs in Saskatchewan and Alberta, as well as GCs across Canada, were recruited to complete an anonymous online survey. With the exception of demographic data, all participants completed an identical survey which included genetic test reports for each of 4 case histories (scenarios), representing a basic mixture of inheritance patterns and genetic conditions that could be expected to present commonly to the FP's office. Ten multiple choice questions assessing interpretation and management of the genetic information were completed (2-3 per scenario). Data were analyzed via SPSS using descriptive statistics, Chi-square testing and Mann Whitney analysis. Ethics approval was obtained through the Research Ethics Board of the former Regina Qu'Appelle Health Authority.

**Results/Findings:** A total of 97 GCs and 75 FPs responded to the survey. FPs performed significantly less well than GCs on total survey score and on question-by-question analysis (p<0.001). Median total survey scores were 6/10 for FPs, compared to 10/10 for GCs.

**Discussion/Conclusions:** As a group, FPs consistently underperformed in the assessment and management of basic genetic information and test results compared to GCs, which may have adverse implications for patients seeking genetic testing and treatment.

**Recommendations:** Further training in genetic testing and analysis would be beneficial for medical students, FP residents, and currently practicing FPs.

- Blencowe H, Moorthie S, Petrou M, Hamamy H, Povey S, Bittles A, et al. Rare single gene disorders: estimating baseline prevalence and outcomes worldwide. J Community Genet. 2018 Oct;9(4):397–406.
- Gambin T, Jhangiani SN, Below JE, Campbell IM, Wiszniewski W, Muzny DM, et al. Secondary findings and carrier test frequencies in a large multiethnic sample. Genome Med [Internet]. 2015 Jun 13 [cited 2020 May 4];7(1):[14 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-015-0171-1</u>.
- 3. Telner DE, Carroll JC, Talbot Y. Genetics education in medical school: a qualitative study exploring educational experiences and needs. Med Teach. 2008 Jan;30(2):192–8.
- 4. Amara N, Blouin-Bougie J, Bouthillier D, Simard J. On the readiness of physicians for pharmacogenomics testing: an empirical assessment. Pharmacogenomics J. 2018 Apr;18(2):308–18.
- 5. Bonter K, Desjardins C, Currier N, Pun J, Ashbury FD. Personalised medicine in Canada: a survey of adoption and practice in oncology, cardiology and family medicine. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2011 Jul 29 [cited 2020 May 4];1(1):[7 p.]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2011-000110.
- 6. Blaine SM, Carroll JC, Rideout AL, Glendon G, Meschino W, Shuman C, et al. Interactive genetic counseling roleplay: a novel educational strategy for family physicians. J Genet Couns. 2008 Apr;17(2):189–95.
- 7. Carroll JC, Makuwaza T, Manca DP, Sopcak N, Permaul JA, O'Brien MA, et al. Primary care providers' experiences with and perceptions of personalized genomic medicine. Can Fam Physician. 2016 Oct;62(10):e626–35.
- 8. Harding B, Webber C, Ruhland L, Dalgarno N, Armour CM, Birtwhistle R, et al. Primary care providers' lived experiences of genetics in practice. J Community Genet. 2019 Jan;10(1):85–93.
- 9. Ronquillo JG, Li C, Lester WT. Genetic testing behavior and reporting patterns in electronic medical records for physicians trained in a primary care specialty or subspecialty. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2012 Jul-Aug;19(4):570–4.
- White DB, Bonham VL, Jenkins J, Stevens N, McBride CM. Too many referrals of lowrisk women for BRCA1/2 genetic services by family physicians. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2008 Nov;17(11):2980–6.
- 11. Bellcross CA, Kolor K, Goddard KAB, Coates RJ, Reyes M, Khoury MJ. Awareness and utilization of BRCA1/2 testing among U.S. primary care physicians. Am J Prev Med. 2011 Jan;40(1):61–6.
- 12. Carroll JC, Wilson BJ, Allanson J, Grimshaw J, Blaine SM, Meschino WS, et al. GenetiKit: a randomized controlled trial to enhance delivery of genetics services by family physicians. Fam Pract. 2011 Dec;28(6):615–23.
- 13. Kadaoui N, Guay M, Baron G, St-Cerny J, Lemaire J. Breast cancer screening practices for women aged 35 to 49 and 70 and older. Can Fam Physician. 2012 Jan;58(1):e47-53.
- 14. Carroll JC, Rideout AL, Wilson BJ, Allanson JM, Blaine SM, Esplen MJ, et al. Genetic education for primary care providers: improving attitudes, knowledge, and confidence. Can Fam Physician. 2009 Dec;55(12):e92-9.

#### **Care Provider Needs Assessment of Chronic Non-Cancer Pain Management**

Kayleen Wingert, FMR II; Jason Hosain, MD, CCFP; Susan Tupper, PhD; Jason Vanstone, PhD; Jacqueline Myers, BSP; Cameron Symon, BHS; Jen Harden, BSc, Murray Opdahl, MD, CCFP

Department of Academic Family Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan & Saskatchewan Health Authority

#### Abstract

**Background:** Chronic non-cancer pain (CNCP) is a common health condition facing 19% of the Canadian population. On a national scale CNCP is inadequately managed. Multidisciplinary pain clinics have been shown to be the gold standard of CNCP care, however in Saskatchewan we do not have access to one. To our knowledge this is the first study completed to assess the specific needs of Saskatchewan practitioners related to CNCP management.

**Research Question:** The goals of the study were to evaluate the burden of CNCP care to providers, identifies competencies and deficiencies, barriers to care, and identifies resources needed to improve CNCP in Saskatchewan.

**Methods/Methodology:** All practicing physicians, residents, and nurse practitioners across Saskatchewan were invited to anonymously participate in the survey sent by email through the Saskatchewan Medical Association (SMA), Saskatchewan Health Authority (SHA) and the Saskatchewan National Association of Nurse Practitioners (SANP). Ethics was approved through the Behavioural Research and Ethics Board at the University of Saskatchewan.

**Results/Findings:** The total response rate was 5.1%. Few respondents were confident in opioid rotation and tapering (51.7%, 65.3% respectively). Overall, confidence with managing primary pain and secondary pain conditioners were 60.5% and 75.5% respectively. Frequently occurring barriers included financial barriers (87.7%), lack of time for patient education (86.3%), and lack of access to a physician pain specialist (84.1%) or interdisciplinary pain specialists (89.0%).

**Discussion:** Saskatchewan practitioners have low confidence in opioid prescribing and CNCP management. Multiple Canadian surveys in other provinces have shown similar results. There is a lack of pain education at both the pre- and post-licensure levels. Practitioners in Saskatchewan also face significant barriers to treating CNCP. Significant systematic barriers limit ability to care for patients with CNCP. A multidisciplinary pain clinic has been proven to be a very effective way to manage CNCP. The majority of these barriers could be addressed with access to this type of clinic in Saskatchewan.

**Conclusions:** Practitioners are faced with managing CNCP in the setting of inadequate pain and opioid education, lack of expert resources, shortages of time, and significant cost barriers to patients. Province wide strategies are required to address these concerns to improve care to patients suffering with CNCP.

- 1. Schopflocher D, Taenzer P, Jovey R. The prevalence of chronic pain in Canada. Pain Res Manag. 2011 Dec;16(6):445–50.
- 2. Reitsma ML, Tranmer JE, Buchanan DM, Vandenkerkhof EG. The prevalence of chronic pain and pain-related interference in the Canadian population from 1994 to 2008. Chronic Dis Inj Can. 2011 Sep;31(4):157–64.
- 3. Upshur CC, Luckmann RS, Savageau JA. Primary care provider concerns about management of chronic pain in community clinic populations. J Gen Intern Med. 2006 Jun;21(6):652–5.
- 4. Health Canada. Chronic pain in Canada: laying a foundation for action : a report by the Canadian Pain Task Force, June 2019 [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada; 2019. 50 p. Available from: <u>http://epe.lac-bac.gc.ca/100/201/301/weekly\_acquisitions\_list-ef/2019/19-35/publications.gc.ca/collections/collection\_2019/sc-hc/H134-5-2019-eng.pdf</u>.
- 5. Lynch ME. The need for a Canadian pain strategy. Pain Res Manag. 2011 Mar-Apr;16(2):77–80.
- 6. Watt-Watson J, McGillion M, Hunter J, Choiniere M, Clark AJ, Dewar A, et al. A survey of prelicensure pain curricula in health science faculties in Canadian universities. Pain Res Manag. 2009 Dec;14(6):439–44.
- Thompson K, Johnson MI, Milligan J, Briggs M. Twenty-five years of pain education research-what have we learned? Findings from a comprehensive scoping review of research into pre-registration pain education for health professionals. Pain. 2018 Nov;159(11):2146– 58.
- 8. Fischer B, Rehm J. Deaths related to the use of prescription opioids. Can Med Assoc J. 2009 Dec;181(12):881–2.
- 9. Sproule B, Brands B, Li S, Catz-Biro L. Changing patterns in opioid addiction: characterizing users of oxycodone and other opioids. Can Fam Physician. 2009 Jan;55(1):68–9.
- 10. Fischer B, Rehm J, Patra J, Cruz MF. Changes in illicit opioid use across Canada. Can Med Assoc J. 2006 Nov;175(11):1385–5.
- Busse JW, Wang L, Kamaleldin M, Craigie S, Riva JJ, Montoya L, et al. Opioids for chronic noncancer pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2018 Dec;320(23):2448-60.
- 12. Chou R, Deyo R, Devine B, Hansen R, Sullivan S, Jarvik JG, et al. The effectiveness and risks of long-term opioid treatment of chronic pain. Bethesda (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2014. 219 p.
- Wenghofer EF, Wilson L, Kahan M, Sheehan C, Srivastava A, Rubin A, et al. Survey of Ontario primary care physicians' experiences with opioid prescribing. Can Fam Physician. 2011 Mar;57(3):324–32.
- 14. Lynch ME, Katz J. "One size fits all" doesn't fit when it comes to long-term opioid use for people with chronic pain. Can J Pain. 2017 Jan;1(1):2–7.
- 15. Dowell D, Haegerich T, Chou R. No shortcuts to safer opioid prescribing. N Engl J Med. 2019 Jun;380(24):2285–7.

- 16. Kahan M, Dubin R, Clarke H. The 2017 Canadian opioid guideline: already time for an overhaul. Can Med Assoc J. 2018 Mar;190(10):E300–0.
- Darnall BD, Juurlink D, Kerns RD, Mackey S, Van Dorsten B, Humphreys K, et al. International stakeholder community of pain experts and leaders call for an urgent action on forced opioid tapering. Pain Med. 2019 Mar;20(3):429–33.
- Dassieu L, Kaboré JL, Choinière M, Arruda N, Roy É. Chronic pain management among people who use drugs: a health policy challenge in the context of the opioid crisis. Int J Drug Policy. 2019 Sep;71(9):150–6.
- 19. Lawrence R, Mogford D, Colvin L. Systematic review to determine which validated measurement tools can be used to assess risk of problematic analgesic use in patients with chronic pain. Br J Anaesth. 2017 Dec;119(6):1092–109.
- 20. Ducharme J, Moore S. Opioid use disorder assessment tools and drug screening. Mo Med. 2019 Aug;116(4):318–24.
- 21. Desveaux L, Saragosa M, Kithulegoda N, Ivers NM. Family physician perceptions of their role in managing the opioid crisis. Ann Fam Med. 2019 Jul;17(4):345–51.
- Roy É, Côté RJ, Hamel D, Dubé PA, Langlois É, Labesse ME, et al. Opioid prescribing practices and training needs of Québec family physicians for chronic noncancer pain. Pain Res Manag [Internet]. 2017 Jul 31 [cited 2020 May 13];2017:[10 p.]. Available from: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/1365910">https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/1365910</a>.
- 23. Finestone HM, Juurlink DN, Power B, Gomes T, Pimlott N. Opioid prescribing is a surrogate for inadequate pain management resources. Can Fam Physician. 2016 Jun;62(6):465–8.
- 24. Katz L, Patterson L, Zacharias R. Evaluation of an interdisciplinary chronic pain program and predictors of readiness for change. Can J Pain. 2019 Jan;3(1):70–8.
- 25. Chao MT, Hurstak E, Leonoudakis-Watts K, Sidders F, Pace J, Hammer H, et al. Patientreported outcomes of an integrative pain management program implemented in a primary care safety net clinic: a quasi-experimental study. J Gen Intern Med. 2019 Jul;34(7):1105– 7.
- 26. Gatchel R, Howard K. The biopsychosocial approach. Pract Pain Manag. 2008 May;8(4):1-10.
- 27. Palylyk-Colwell E, Wright MD. Tiered care for chronic non-malignant pain: a review of clinical effectiveness, cost effectiveness, and guidelines. [Internet]. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technology in Health; 2019. 53 p. Available from: <a href="https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/htis/2019/RC1074%20Tiered%20Care%20for%20Chronic%20Non-Malignant%20Pain%20Final.pdf">https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/htis/2019/RC1074%20Tiered%20Care%20for%20Chronic%20Non-Malignant%20Pain%20Final.pdf</a>.
- Kamper SJ, Apeldoorn AT, Chiarotto A, Smeets RJEM, Ostelo RWJG, Guzman J, et al. Multidisciplinary biopsychosocial rehabilitation for chronic low back pain: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ [Internet]. 2015 Feb 18 [cited 2020 May 13];350:[11 p.]. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h444</u>.
- 29. Patrick LE, Altmaier EM, Found EM. Long-term outcomes in multidisciplinary treatment of chronic low back pain: results of a 13-year follow-up. Spine. 2004 Apr;29(8):850–5.

- 30. Skouen JS, Grasdal A, Haldorsen EMH. Return to work after comparing outpatient multidisciplinary treatment programs versus treatment in general practice for patients with chronic widespread pain. Eur J Pain Lond Engl. 2006 Feb;10(2):145–52.
- 31. Lakha SF, Yegneswaran B, Furlan JC, Legnini V, Nicholson K, Mailis-Gagnon A. Referring patients with chronic noncancer pain to pain clinics: survey of Ontario family physicians. Can Fam Physician. 2011 Mar;57(3):e106-112.